# UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI EASTERN DIVISION

In re:

Chapter 11

MIDWEST CHRISTIAN VILLAGES, INC. et al., 1

Case No. 24-42473-659 (Joint Administration Requested)

Debtors.

Hearing Date: July 17, 2024 Hearing Time: 2:00 p.m. (CT)

Hearing Location: Courtroom 7 North

### NOTICE OF DIP CREDIT AGREEMENT

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT on July 16, 2024 the Debtors filed the Motion for Interim and Final Orders (1) Authorizing the Debtors To Obtain Post-Petition Financing, (2) Authorizing Debtors In Possession to Use Cash Collateral, (3) Providing Adequate Protection, (4) Granting Liens, Security Interests and Superpriority Claims, and (5) Scheduling a Final Hearing ("DIP Motion")<sup>2</sup> [Docket No. 11].

**PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE THAT** attached hereto as **Exhibit A** is the *Priming Superpriority Debtor-in-Possession Credit Agreement* (the "DIP Credit Agreement").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings given to them in the DIP Motion.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The address of the Debtors headquarters is 2 Cityplace Dr, Suite 200, Saint Louis, MO 63141-7390. The last four digits of the Debtors' federal tax identification numbers are: (i) Midwest Christian Villages, Inc. [5009], (ii) Hickory Point Christian Village, Inc. [7659], (iii) Lewis Memorial Christian Village [3104], (iv) Senior Care Pharmacy Services, LLC [1176], (v) New Horizons PACE MO, LLC [4745], (vi) Risen Son Christian Village [9738], (vii) Spring River Christian Village, Inc. [1462], (viii) Christian Homes, Inc. [1562], (ix) Crown Point Christian Village, Inc. [4614], (x) Hoosier Christian Village, Inc. [3749], (xi) Johnson Christian Village Care Center, LLC [8262], (xii) River Birch Christian Village, LLC [7232], (xiii) Washington Village Estates, LLC [9088], (xiv) Christian Horizons Living LLC [4871], (xv) Wabash Christian Therapy and Medical Clinic, LLC [2894], (xvi) Wabash Christian Village Apartments, LLC [8352],(xvii) Wabash Estates, LLC [8743], (xviii) Safe Haven Hospice, LLC [6886], (xix) Heartland Christian Village, LLC [0196], (xx) Midwest Senior Ministries, Inc. [3401] and (xxi) Shawnee Christian Nursing Center, LLC [0068].

Dated: July 16, 2024 St. Louis, Missouri

Respectfully submitted,

#### **DENTONS US LLP**

### /s/ Stephen O'Brien

Stephen O'Brien MoBar # 43977 **DENTONS US LLP** 211 N Broadway Ste 3000 St. Louis, MO 63102 Telephone: (314) 241-1800 stephen.obrien@dentons.com

Robert E. Richards (*pro hac vice* pending) Samantha Ruben (*pro hac vice* pending) Elysa Chew (*pro hac vice* pending)

#### **DENTONS US LLP**

233 S. Wacker Drive, Suite 5900 Chicago, Illinois 60606-6404 Telephone: (312) 876-8000 robert.richards@dentons.com samantha.ruben@dentons.com elysa.chew@dentons.com

- and -

David A. Sosne MoBar # 28365 SUMMERS COMPTON WELLS LLC

903 South Lindbergh Blvd., Suite 200 St. Louis, Missouri 63131 Telephone: (314) 991-4999 dsosne@scw.law

Proposed Co-Counsel to the Debtors and Debtors-in-Possession

# **EXHIBIT A**

**DIP Credit Agreement** 

# PRIMING SUPERPRIORITY DEBTOR-IN-POSSESSION CREDIT AGREEMENT

#### BY AND AMONG

MIDWEST CHRISTIAN VILLAGES, INC., HICKORY POINT CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, INC., LEWIS MEMORIAL CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, SENIOR CARE PHARMACY SERVICES, LLC, NEW HORIZONS PACE MO, LLC, RISEN SON CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, SPRING RIVER CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, INC., CHRISTIAN HOMES, INC., CROWN POINT CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, INC., HOOSIER CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, INC., JOHNSON CHRISTIAN VILLAGE CARE CENTER, LLC, RIVER BIRCH CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, LLC, WASHINGTON VILLAGE ESTATES, LLC, CHRISTIAN HORIZONS LIVING, LLC, WABASH CHRISTIAN VILLAGE THERAPY AND MEDICAL CLINIC, LLC, WABASH CHRISTIAN VILLAGE APARTMENTS, LLC, WABASH ESTATES, LLC, SAFE HAVEN HOSPICE, LLC, HEARTLAND CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, LLC, MIDWEST SENIOR MINISTRIES, INC. AND SHAWNEE CHRISTIAN NURSING CENTER, LLC

AS DEBTORS,

**AND** 

UMB BANK, N.A.,

IN ITS CAPACITY AS TRUSTEE,

**AS DIP LENDER** 

DATED AS OF JULY , 2024

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

		<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE I	DEFINED TERMS	3
Section 1.1	Definitions	3
ARTICLE II	LOANS	16
Section 2.1 Section 2.2 Section 2.3 Section 2.4 Section 2.5 Section 2.6 Section 2.7 Section 2.8 Section 2.9 Section 2.10	DIP Loans Borrowing Mechanics Use of Proceeds Evidence of Debt Interest and Fees on Loans Repayment Prepayments Application of Payments and Proceeds General Provisions Regarding Payments Termination of DIP Loan Commitments	16 17 17 17 17 18
ARTICLE III	CONDITIONS PRECEDENT; CONDITIONS SUBSEQUENT	19
Section 3.1 Section 3.2 Section 3.3	Conditions Precedent; Closing Date	22 22
ARTICLE IV	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	
Section 4.1	Representations and Warranties	22
ARTICLE V	AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS	26
Section 5.1	Affirmative Covenants	26
ARTICLE VI	NEGATIVE COVENANTS/BUDGET COMPLIANCE	31
Section 6.1 Section 6.2	Negative Covenants	31
ARTICLE VII	INCREASED COSTS; TAXES; SET OFF; ETC	33
Section 7.1 Section 7.2	Taxes; Withholding, Etc	
ARTICLE VIII	EVENTS OF DEFAULT	35
Section 8.1 Section 8.2 Section 8.3 Section 8.4	Events of Default	37 38
ARTICLE IX	MISCELLANEOUS	38
Section 9.1 Section 9.2	Amendments and Waivers; Release of DIP Collateral Notices	

# Case 24-42473 Doc 43 Filed 07/17/24 Entered 07/17/24 13:03:53 Main Document Pg 6 of 64

Section 9.3	Expenses	40
Section 9.4	Enforceability; Successors and Assigns	
Section 9.5	Integration	
Section 9.6	No Waiver; Remedies	
Section 9.7	Setoff	
Section 9.8	Execution in Counterparts	42
Section 9.9	Governing Law; Submission To Jurisdiction; Venue	
Section 9.10	Waiver of Jury Trial	
Section 9.11	Severability	
Section 9.12	Survival	
Section 9.13	Maximum Lawful Interest	44
Section 9.14	No Marshalling	
Section 9.15	Interpretation	
Section 9.16	Ambiguities	
Section 9.17	The PATRIOT Act	
Section 9.18	Conflicting Provisions in Security Documents	45
Section 9.19	Conflicting Provisions in the Financing Orders	
Section 9.20	Modifications	
Section 9.21	Release	
Section 9.22	Electronic Transactions	

# SCHEDULE 2.1 DIP Loan Commitment

EXHIBIT A Budget

EXHIBIT B Form of Borrowing Certificate

EXHIBIT C Form of Interim Order

THIS PRIMING SUPERPRIORITY DEBTOR-IN-POSSESSION CREDIT AGREEMENT is made as of July \_\_\_, 2024 by and among Midwest Christian Villages, Inc., Hickory Point Christian Village, Inc., Lewis Memorial Christian Village, Senior Care Pharmacy Services, LLC, New Horizons PACE MO, LLC, Risen Son Christian Village, Spring River Christian Village, Inc., Christian Homes, Inc., Crown Point Christian Village, Inc., Hoosier Christian Village, Inc., Johnson Christian Village Care Center, LLC, River Birch Christian Village, LLC, Washington Village Estates, LLC, Christian Horizons Living, LLC, Wabash Christian Therapy and Medical Clinic, LLC, Wabash Christian Village Apartments, LLC, Wabash Estates, LLC, Safe Haven Hospice, LLC, Heartland Christian Village, LLC, Midwest Senior Ministries, Inc. and Shawnee Christian Nursing Center, LLC (collectively, the "Debtors") and UMB Bank, N.A., in its capacity as Trustee (the "DIP Lender").

#### RECITALS

WHEREAS, on July 16, 2024 (the "<u>Petition Date</u>"), the Debtors filed voluntary petitions for relief (the "<u>Chapter 11 Cases</u>") under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the "<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>") with the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Eastern District of Missouri (the "<u>Bankruptcy Court</u>");

WHEREAS, the Debtors own and operate senior living facilities and related businesses in Illinois, Indiana, Iowa and Missouri (collectively, the "<u>Facilities</u>");

WHEREAS, UMB Bank, N.A. serves as (i) successor master trustee (in such capacity, the "Master Trustee") under that certain Master Trust Indenture dated as of June 1, 2007 (as amended and supplemented, the "Master Indenture") among Christian Homes, Inc. ("Christian Homes"), Crown Point Christian Village, Inc., Hickory Point Christian Village, Inc., Hoosier Christian Village, Inc., Lewis Memorial Christian Village, Midwest Senior Ministries, Inc., New Horizons PACE MO, LLC, Risen Son Christian Village, Inc., Senior Care Pharmacy Services, LLC and Spring River Christian Village, Inc. (each, an "Obligated Group Member," and collectively, the "Obligated Group") and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as prior master trustee, and (ii) successor bond trustee (in such capacity, the "Bond Trustee," and referred to collectively in its capacities as the Master Trustee and the Bond Trustee as the "Trustee") under each of: (A) that certain Bond Trust Indenture, dated as of March 1, 2016, between the Illinois Finance Authority (the "Illinois Issuer") and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as prior bond trustee (the "Prior Bond Trustee"); (B) that certain Bond Trust Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2018, between the Health and Educational Facilities Authority of the State of Missouri and the Prior Bond Trustee; and (C) two separate Bond Trust Indentures, each dated as of September 1, 2021, between the Illinois Issuer and the Prior Bond Trustee (collectively, the "Bond Indentures");

WHEREAS, the following series of revenue bonds (collectively, the "Bonds") were issued pursuant to the Bond Indentures: (i) Illinois Finance Authority Revenue Refunding Bonds, Series 2016 (Christian Homes, Inc. Obligated Group) (the "Series 2016 Bonds"); (ii) Health and Educational Facilities Authority of the State of Missouri Senior Living Facilities Revenue Bonds (Christian Horizons Obligated Group), Series 2018 (the "Series 2018 Bonds"); (iii) Illinois Finance Authority Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A (Christian Horizons Obligated Group) (the "Series 2021A Bonds"); and (iv) Illinois Finance Authority Taxable Revenue Bonds, Series

2021B (Christian Horizons Obligated Group) (the "Series 2021B Bonds," and collectively with the Series 2016 Bonds, the Series 2018 Bonds and the Series 2021A Bonds, the "Bonds");

WHEREAS, the Members of the Obligated Group designated Christian Homes to serve as Obligated Group Agent pursuant to the Master Indenture, which, among other things, gives Christian Homes the full and exclusive power to execute and deliver on behalf of the Obligated Group and each Member thereof all documents relating to the incurrence of indebtedness under such the Master Indenture;

WHEREAS, the proceeds of the Bonds were loaned to Christian Homes, as Obligated Group Agent, on behalf of itself and the other Members of the Obligated Group, by the issuers of the Bonds for the purposes of, *inter alia*, financing or refinancing the acquisition, construction, equipping or improving, as applicable, of various Facilities owned and operated by Obligated Group Members (the "OG Facilities");

WHEREAS, as security for the Obligated Group's obligations with respect to the Bonds, Christian Homes, as Obligated Group Agent, on behalf of itself and the other Members of the Obligated Group, issued certain Direct Note Obligations under and pursuant to the Master Indenture, and such Direct Note Obligations are secured by, *inter alia*, (i) all personal property of the Obligated Group Members, including the Gross Revenues (as defined in the Master Indenture) (collectively, the "Personal Property"); (ii) the right, title and interest of the Obligated Group Members in the land and facilities comprising the OG Facilities (collectively, the "Mortgaged Property"); and (iii) all amounts held by the Trustee in certain funds and accounts established under the Master Indenture or the Bond Indentures (collectively, the "Trustee Held Funds");

WHEREAS, the Master Indenture, the Bond Indentures and each and every other document or agreement delivered as security for, or in respect of, the Bonds, the Direct Note Obligations or any of the other obligations of the Obligated Group under any of such documents are referred to collectively herein as the "<u>Pre-Petition Credit Agreements</u>" and the Personal Property, the Mortgaged Property, the Trustee Held Funds, and any other tangible or intangible assets upon which one or more of the Debtors have granted a security interest in or lien on for the benefit of the Trustee are referred to collectively herein as the "Pre-Petition Collateral";

WHEREAS, the Debtors have requested, and the DIP Lender has agreed, to provide a working capital facility to support the Debtors' working capital needs during the Chapter 11 Cases, pursuant to the terms and conditions hereof; and

WHEREAS, the DIP Lender is only willing to provide the DIP Loans hereunder if the Debtors grant to the DIP Lender a priming, first priority lien and superpriority administrative claim on the DIP Collateral, subject only to the Carve-Out and the Financing Orders;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and the agreements herein set forth, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

### ARTICLE I DEFINED TERMS

#### Section 1.1 Definitions.

- (a) As used in this Agreement, including, without limitation, the preamble, recitals, exhibits and schedules hereto, the following terms have the meanings stated:
  - "Account" has the meaning set forth in the UCC.
  - "Action" against a Person means an action, suit, litigation, arbitration, investigation, complaint, contest, hearing, inquiry, inquest, audit, examination or other proceeding threatened or pending against or affecting such Person or its property, whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or appellate, in law or equity, before any arbitrator or Governmental Body.
  - "Affiliate" means, with respect to a Person, any other Person which directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls or is controlled by or is under common control with such Person, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, includes (i) any Person which beneficially owns or holds ten (10%) percent or more of any class of the Capital Stock of such Person or other equity interests in such Person, (ii) any Person of which such Person beneficially owns or holds ten (10%) percent or more of any class of the Capital Stock or in which such Person beneficially owns or holds ten (10%) percent or more of the equity interests, (iii) any director or executive officer of such Person. For the purposes of this definition, the term "control" (including with correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under common control with"), as used with respect to any Person, means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of Capital Stock, by agreement or otherwise.
  - "Agreement" means this Priming Superpriority Debtor-in-Possession Credit Agreement, as it may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
  - "Asset Sale" means a sale, lease or sublease (as lessor or sublessor), sale and leaseback, assignment, conveyance, transfer or other disposition to, or any exchange of property with, any Person, in one or more transactions or a series of related transactions, of all or any part of the businesses of the Debtors, and/or of all or any part of the assets or properties of any kind of the Debtors, whether real, personal, or mixed and whether tangible or intangible, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, other than (a) inventory (or other assets) sold or leased in the ordinary course of business, (b) sales or dispositions of obsolete, worn-out or excess furniture, fixtures, equipment or other property in the ordinary course of business and (c) the actual or constructive loss of any property or the use thereof.
  - "Assignee" means has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4(b).
  - "Assignment" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.4(b).

- "<u>Authorized Officer</u>" means, as applied to any Person, any individual holding the position of chairman of the board, executive director (or the equivalent thereof), chief executive officer, chief financial officer, any vice president or treasurer, chief restructuring officer or restructuring officer or the Person or entity acting in that capacity.
- "Avoidance Actions" means claims or causes of action of the Debtor pursuant to or arising under Bankruptcy Code sections 502(d), 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, 551, 553(b), 723(2) or 742(2).
- "Bankruptcy Code" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
- "Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
- "Bankruptcy Milestones" has the meaning set forth in the Financing Orders.
- "Bond Indentures" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
- "Bond Trustee" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
- "Bonds" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
- "Borrowing" means an advance of a DIP Loan made hereunder on the Interim Order Entry Date or thereafter.
- "Borrowing Certificate" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2(b).
- "Borrowing Date" means the date of a Borrowing.
- "Budget" means, initially, the budget attached as Exhibit A, and, upon entry of the Final Order, the budget attached thereto, in each case itemizing on a weekly basis all uses, and anticipated uses, of the DIP Loans, revenues projected to be received and all expenditures proposed to be made during such period, which Budget may be amended with the written consent of the DIP Lender.
- "Business Day" means a day other than Saturday or Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City, New York or St. Louis, Missouri are authorized or required by law or other governmental action to close.
- "<u>Capital Lease</u>" means, as applied to any Person, any lease of any property (whether real, personal or mixed) by that Person as lessee that, in conformity with GAAP, is or should be accounted for as a capital lease on the balance sheet of that Person.
- "Capital Stock" means any and all shares, interests, participations or other equivalents (however designated) of capital stock of a corporation, any and all equivalent ownership interests in a Person (other than a corporation), including, without limitation, partnership interests and membership interests, and any and all warrants, rights or options to purchase or other arrangements or rights to acquire any of the foregoing.

- "Carve-Out" has the meaning set forth in the Interim Order (before the entry of the Final Order) and, after the entry of the Final Order, the Final Order.
- "Cash" means a credit balance in any Deposit Account, money or currency.
- "Change of Control" means, with respect to any of the Debtors, any one or more of the following events: (i) the transfer (in one transaction or a series of transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of such Debtor to any Person or group; (ii) the liquidation or dissolution of such Debtor or the adoption of a plan by the Board of Directors of such Debtor relating to the dissolution or liquidation of such Debtor; (iii) the conversion of such Debtor to a "for profit" corporation or other entity; (iv) any Person or two or more Persons acting in concert shall have acquired by contract or otherwise, the power to exercise, directly or indirectly, a controlling influence over the management or policies of such Debtor or control the election of members of the board of directors or equivalent governing body of such Debtor; or (v) any material change in the composition or membership of such Debtor's board of directors, or day to day management of such Debtor, from that in effect on the date hereof, except for any changes approved in advance by the DIP Lender; provided, however, that any such event as to a Debtor whose assets have already been sold by a sale approved by the Trustee shall not be deemed to be an Event of Default as to the other Debtors..
- "Chapter 11 Cases" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
- "Closing Date" means the date hereof.
- "Committee" means any committee of unsecured creditors appointed in the Chapter 11 Case.
- "Controlled Account" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(f) and includes the Operating Account.
- "Controlled Account Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1(f).
- "Consents" means any approval, consent, authorization or order of, notice to or registration or filing with, or any other action by, any Governmental Body or other Person.
- "Credit Bid" means the submission by the DIP Lender or the Trustee of a bid in connection with a public or private sale to purchase all or any portion of the DIP Collateral in which any of the DIP Obligations are used and applied as a credit against the purchase price.
- "Debtors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble to this Agreement; provided that "Debtors" shall include any of the Debtors' successors and assigns (including, without limitation, any trustee or other fiduciary hereafter appointed as legal representative or with respect to the property of the estates of the Debtors, whether under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code or any subsequent chapter 7 case and the Debtors' successors upon conclusion of the Chapter 11 Cases).

"<u>Debtor Default Period Rights</u>" has the meaning ascribed to such term in the Financing Orders.

"<u>Debtor Relief Laws</u>" means the Bankruptcy Code and all other liquidation, conservatorship, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, moratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insolvency, reorganization, examinership, or similar debtor relief laws of the United States or other applicable jurisdictions from time to time in effect and affecting the rights of creditors generally.

"<u>Default</u>" means a condition or event that, after notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute an Event of Default.

"Deposit Account" means any deposit account (as such term is defined in the UCC), including, without limitation, a demand, time, savings, passbook or like account with a bank, savings and loan association, credit union or like organization, other than an account evidenced by a negotiable certificate of deposit.

"DIP Collateral" means all currently owned or hereafter acquired property and assets of the Debtors of any kind or nature, whether real or personal, tangible or intangible, wherever located, now owned or hereafter acquired or arising and all proceeds, products, rents and profits thereof, including, without limitation, accounts, revenues, inventory, equipment, capital stock in subsidiaries, investment property, instruments, chattel paper, real estate, leasehold interests, contracts, general intangibles, patents, copyrights, trademarks, deposit accounts, intercompany claims, claims against affiliates, Actions, tax refund claims, commercial tort claims, insurance proceeds and insurance premium refunds; provided that (i) upon entry of the Interim Order, the DIP Collateral shall exclude (w) the Restricted Resident Deposits, (x) the HUD-Financed Properties, (y) the IHDA-Financed Property and (z) the Avoidance Actions and proceeds thereof and (ii) notwithstanding the foregoing, the DIP Lender reserves the right to request that the DIP Collateral includes the HUD-Financed Properties, the IHDA-Financed Property and the Avoidance Actions and proceeds thereof in the Final Order.

"<u>DIP Collateral Documents</u>" means the Controlled Account Agreements and all other instruments, documents and agreements delivered by the Debtors pursuant to this Agreement or any of the other DIP Loan Documents pursuant to which the Debtors grant a DIP Lien, or any other Lien, mortgage, or encumbrance, to the DIP Lender, as any of the foregoing may be amended, restated, supplemented, modified, or replaced from time to time. For the avoidance of doubt, the DIP Collateral Documents do not include the Financing Orders.

"<u>DIP Commitment Period</u>" means (a) with respect to Initial DIP Loans, the period commencing on Interim Order Entry Date and ending upon the Final Order Entry Date and (b) with respect to all DIP Loans other than the Initial DIP Loans, the period commencing on the Final Order Entry Date and ending on the Maturity Date.

"DIP Lender" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble to this Agreement.

- "<u>DIP Lien</u>" means any Lien granted under or pursuant to any DIP Collateral Document or the Financing Orders.
- "DIP Loan" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).
- "<u>DIP Loan Commitment</u>" means, upon entry of the Interim Order, an amount not to exceed \$3,000,000, and upon entry of the Final Order, the amount set forth in <u>Schedule 2.1</u>, or, in each case, such lesser amount as determined in accordance with the Financing Orders and the Budget.
- "<u>DIP Loan Document</u>" means any of this Agreement, the DIP Collateral Documents and all other documents, instruments or agreements executed and delivered by the Debtors for the benefit of the DIP Lender in connection herewith.
- "DIP Obligations" means all indebtedness, obligations, covenants, duties of payment or performance of every kind and all other liabilities of the Debtors from time to time owed to DIP Lender, whether direct or indirect, joint or several, absolute or contingent, matured or unmatured, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, arising by contract, operation of law or otherwise, owing, arising, due or incurred under this Agreement, the Financing Orders or any DIP Loan Document or in respect of any of the DIP Loans, or any other instruments at any time evidencing any of the foregoing or otherwise, including, without limitation, all obligations to repay principal of and interest on the DIP Loans, and to pay interest, costs, charges, expenses, professional fees, and all sums chargeable to the Debtors under the DIP Loan Documents and the Financing Orders and Debtors' obligation to provide the DIP Lender with adequate protection of its interests in the DIP Collateral and other property to be used, sold, leased or otherwise disposed of by the Debtors under the terms of the Financing Orders.
- "Dollars" and the sign "\sums" mean the lawful money of the United States of America.
- "Employee Benefit Plan" means any "employee benefit plan" as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA that is sponsored, maintained or contributed to by, or required to be contributed to by, the Debtors.
- "Environmental Laws" means all federal, state, local and foreign laws (including without limitation common law), treaties, statutes, regulations and rules whether now or hereinafter in effect relating in any way to the environment, the preservation or reclamation of natural resources, the management, release or threatened release of any Hazardous Material or health and safety matters, including, without limitation, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, the Federal Clean Water Act, the Federal Clean Air Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, in each case as amended, and all rules, regulations, judgments, decrees, orders and licenses arising under all such laws.
- "Environmental Liability" means any actual, alleged or contingent liability or obligations of the Debtors directly or indirectly resulting from or based on (i) violations or alleged violations of any Environmental Law, (ii) the generation, use, handling, transportation,

management, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Material, (iii) exposure to any Hazardous Material, (iv) the release or threatened release of any Hazardous Material into the environment or (v) any contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with any of the foregoing.

"Environmental Permits" means all permits, licenses, authorizations, registrations and other governmental consents required by applicable Environmental Laws for the use, storage, treatment, transportation, release, emission and disposal of raw materials, byproducts, wastes and other substances used or produced by or otherwise relating to the operations of the Debtors.

"Equipment" means, as to the Debtors, all of the Debtors' now owned and hereafter acquired equipment, wherever located, including machinery, data processing and computer equipment (whether owned or licensed and including embedded software), vehicles, tools, furniture, fixtures, all attachments, accessions and property now or hereafter affixed thereto or used in connection therewith, and substitutions and replacements thereof, wherever located.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time, and any successor thereto.

"ERISA Affiliate" means, as applied to any Person, (i) any corporation that is a member of a controlled group of corporations within the meaning of Section 414(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of which that Person is a member, (ii) any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that is a member of a group of trades or businesses under common control within the meaning of Section 414(c) of the Internal Revenue Code of which that Person is a member, and (iii) any member of an affiliated service group within the meaning of Section 414(m) or (o) of the Internal Revenue Code of which that Person, any corporation described in clause (i) above or any trade or business described in clause (ii) above is a member. Any former ERISA Affiliate of the Debtors shall continue to be considered an ERISA Affiliate of the Debtors within the meaning of this definition with respect to the period such entity was an ERISA Affiliate of the Debtors and with respect to liabilities arising after such period for which the Debtors could be liable under the Internal Revenue Code or ERISA.

"Event of Default" means each of the conditions or events set forth in Section 8.1.

"Excluded Taxes" means any of the following Taxes imposed on or with respect to the DIP Lender or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to the DIP Lender, (a) Taxes imposed on or measured by net income (however denominated), franchise Taxes, and branch profits Taxes, in each case, (i) imposed as a result of the DIP Lender being organized under the laws of, or having its principal office or, its applicable lending office located in, the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (or any political subdivision thereof) or (ii) that are imposed as a result of a present or former connection between the DIP Lender and the jurisdiction imposing such Tax (other than connections arising from the DIP Lender having executed, delivered, become a party to, performed its obligations under, received payments under, received or perfected a security interest under, engaged in any other

transaction pursuant to or enforced this Agreement, or sold or assigned an interest in any DIP Loan or any DIP Loan Document), (b) U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed on amounts payable to or for the account of the DIP Lender with respect to an applicable interest in a DIP Loan pursuant to a law in effect on the date on which the DIP Lender acquires such interest in the DIP Loan, (c) Taxes attributable to the DIP Lender's failure to comply with Section 7.1(c) and (d) any U.S. federal withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA.

"Facilities" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

"FATCA" means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Internal Revenue Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof and any agreement entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Internal Revenue Code.

"<u>Final Order</u>" means a final order (which must be acceptable in form and substance to the DIP Lender in its sole discretion) entered or to be entered by the Bankruptcy Court authorizing the secured financing under the DIP Loan Documents.

"Final Order Entry Date" means the date on which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Final Order.

"Financing Orders" means, collectively, the Interim Order, the Final Order and such other orders relating thereto or authorizing the granting of credit by DIP Lender to the Debtors on an emergency, interim or permanent basis, pursuant to section 364 of the Bankruptcy Code as may be issued or entered by the Bankruptcy Court in the Chapter 11 Case.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States as in effect from time to time, consistently applied throughout the periods to which reference is made.

"Governmental Body" means any agency, bureau, commission, court, department, official, political subdivision, tribunal or other instrumentality of any administrative, judicial, legislative, executive, regulatory, police or taxing authority of any government, whether supranational, national, federal, state, regional, provincial, local, domestic or foreign, and includes, without limitation, the European Union and its agencies and instrumentalities.

"Hazardous Materials" means any hazardous or toxic substance, waste, contaminant, pollutant, gas or material, including, without limitation, radioactive materials, oil, petroleum and petroleum products and constituents thereof, which are regulated under any Environmental Law, including, without limitation, any substance, waste or material which is (i) designated a "pollutant," "hazardous substance," "extremely hazardous substance" or "toxic chemical" under any Environmental Law, or (ii) regulated in any way under the Regulations of any state or other jurisdiction where any of the Debtors

conducts its business or owns any real property or has any leasehold or in which any Relevant Property is located.

"HUD-Financed Properties" means (i) Wabash Estates in Carmi, Illinois and (ii) Washington Village Estates in Washington, Illinois, each of which is subject to a mortgage securing a loan made by or through the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development.

"IHDA-Financed Property" means Wabash Christian Village Apartments in Carmi, Illinois which is subject to a mortgage securing a loan made by or through the Illinois Housing Development Authority.

"Indebtedness" means, with respect to any Person, without duplication, the following: (i) all indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money, (ii) all obligations of such Person for the deferred purchase price of property or services (other than accounts payable and accrued liabilities that would be classified as current liabilities under GAAP if and only for so long as such item of such accounts payable and accrued liabilities is no more than 90 days past due), (iii) all obligations of such Person evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or similar borrowing or securities instruments, (iv) all obligations of such Person created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to property acquired by such Person, (v) all obligations of such Person as lessee under Capital Leases, (vi) all obligations of such Person in respect of banker's acceptances and letters of credit, (vii) all obligations of such Person secured by Liens on the assets and property of such Person, (viii) all obligations of such Person to purchase, redeem, retire, defease or otherwise make any payment in respect of any Capital Stock or other ownership or profit interest in such Person or any other Person or any warrants, rights or options to acquire such Capital Stock, (ix) net liabilities in respect of such Person's hedge agreements as determined in accordance with GAAP, (x) all obligations of such Person in respect of any guaranty by such Person of any obligation of another Person of the type described in clauses (i) through (ix) of this definition and (xi) all obligations of another Person of the type described in clauses (i) through (x) secured by a Lien on the property or assets of such Person (whether or not such Person is otherwise liable for such obligations of such other Person).

"Indemnified Taxes" means Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of the Debtors under any DIP Loan Document.

"<u>Initial DIP Loans</u>" means the amount set forth on <u>Schedule 2.1</u> or such lesser amount as set forth in the Interim Order and the Budget.

"Intellectual Property" means, collectively, all copyrights, all patents and all trademarks, together with: (i) all inventions, processes, production methods, proprietary information, know-how and trade secrets; (ii) all licenses or user or other agreements granted to the Debtors with respect to any of the foregoing, in each case whether now or hereafter

owned or used including the licenses or other agreements with respect to any DIP Collateral; (iii) all customer lists, identification of suppliers, data, plans, blueprints, specifications, designs, drawings, recorded knowledge, surveys, engineering reports, test reports, manuals, materials standards, processing standards, performance standards, catalogs, computer and automatic machinery software and programs; (iv) all sales data and other information relating to sales or service of products now or hereafter manufactured; (v) all accounting information and all media in which or on which any information or knowledge or data or records may be recorded or stored and all computer programs used for the compilation or printout of such information, knowledge, records or data; and (vi) all causes of action, claims and warranties, in each case, now or hereafter owned or acquired by the Debtors in respect of any of the items listed above.

"Interim Order" means an interim order, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C and, in any event, in form and substance satisfactory to the DIP Lender in its sole discretion, entered or to be entered by the Bankruptcy Court authorizing the secured financing (including the Initial DIP Loans) under the DIP Loan Documents.

"Interim Order Entry Date" means the date on which the Bankruptcy Court issues the Interim Order.

"Internal Revenue Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the date hereof and from time to time hereafter, and any successor statute.

"Investment" means (i) any direct or indirect purchase or other acquisition by the Debtors of, or of a beneficial interest in, any of any Capital Stock of any other Person, (ii) any direct or indirect redemption, retirement, purchase or other acquisition for value, by the Debtors from any Person, of any Capital Stock of such Person, and (iii) any direct or indirect loan, advance or capital contribution by the Debtors to any other Person, including all indebtedness and accounts receivable from that other Person that are not current assets or did not arise from sales of inventory to that other Person in the ordinary course of business and/or constitute ordinary trade credit extended in the ordinary course of business. The amount of any Investment shall be the original cost of such Investment plus the cost of all additional Investments, without any adjustments for increases or decreases in value, or write-ups, write-downs or write-offs with respect to such Investment.

"Knowledge" means, with respect to the Debtors, the actual knowledge of the Debtors' Authorized Officers, following reasonable due diligence.

"Lien" means any mortgage, deed of trust, security interest, charge, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, attachment, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, lien (statutory, judgment or otherwise, but excluding any right of set off arising by operation of law or pursuant to agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business), or other security agreement or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature whatsoever (including any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any Capital Lease, any Synthetic Lease, any financing lease involving substantially the same economic effect as

any of the foregoing and the filing of any financing statement under the UCC or comparable law of any jurisdiction in respect of the foregoing).

"Margin Stock" means "margin stock" as defined in Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as in effect from time to time.

"Master Indenture" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Master Trustee" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Material Adverse Effect" means any material adverse effect on or material adverse change, taken as a whole, (but excluding the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases) in: (i) the business or assets of the Debtors taken as a whole, (ii) the ability of the Debtors to materially perform their respective obligations hereunder or under of any of the DIP Loan Documents taken as a whole, (iii) the legality, validity or enforceability of any DIP Loan Document, or (iv) the DIP Collateral or the perfection or priority of any DIP Liens granted to the DIP Lender under any of the DIP Collateral Documents.

"Maturity Date" means the earliest to occur of the date that is (a) December 31, 2024, (b) the closing date of the sale of all or substantially all of the Debtors' assets pursuant to an order entered by the Court (or, in the event of more than one sale, the closing date of the last of such sales), (c) the date on which the DIP Lender accelerates the DIP Obligations (or the DIP Obligations automatically and immediately accelerate) or the DIP Obligations otherwise become immediately due and payable, pursuant to the terms hereof or of the Financing Orders, as applicable, or (d) the confirmation of a Chapter 11 plan which becomes effective.

"Multiemployer Plan" means any Employee Benefit Plan that is a "multi-employer plan" as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA.

"Net Asset Sale Proceeds" means, for the Debtors, with respect to any Asset Sale, an amount equal to: (i) Cash payments (including any Cash received by way of deferred payment pursuant to, or by monetization of, a note receivable or otherwise, but only as and when so received) received by the Debtors from such Asset Sale, minus (ii) the sum of (a) reasonable, customary and documented brokerage, consultant and other reasonable customary and documented fees and expenses actually incurred in connection with such Asset Sale and (b) Taxes paid or reasonably estimated to be payable as a result of such Asset Sale.

"Net Indebtedness Proceeds" means the proceeds of any Indebtedness incurred by the Debtors after the Petition Date (other than pursuant to this Agreement) minus if, at the time of payment thereof and after giving thereto, (i) the Debtors are in pro forma compliance with the provisions of Section 6.2, (ii) any such payment is permitted to be made at such time in accordance with the Budget and (iii) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would result therefrom, reasonable, customary and documented out-of-pocket attorneys' fees, accountants' fees, and other reasonable customary and documented fees and expenses actually incurred in connection with the issuance of such Indebtedness.

"Net Insurance/Condemnation Proceeds" means, for the Debtors, an amount equal to: (i) any Cash payments or proceeds received by or owed to the Debtors (A) under any casualty insurance policy in respect of a covered loss thereunder or (B) as a result of the taking of any assets of the Debtors by any Person pursuant to the power of eminent domain, condemnation or otherwise, or pursuant to a sale of any such assets to a purchaser with such power under threat of such a taking minus (ii) the sum of (A) any actual and reasonable documented costs and expenses (including reasonable out-of-pocket attorney's fees) incurred by the Debtors in connection with the adjustment or settlement of any claims of the Debtors in respect thereof, and (B) any bona fide, reasonable, customary and documented costs actually incurred in connection with any sale of such assets as referred to in clause (i)(B) of this definition, including Taxes paid or reasonably estimated to be payable as a result of any gain recognized in connection therewith.

"Net Proceeds" means, as of any time, the aggregate of Net Asset Sale Proceeds, Net Insurance/Condemnation Proceeds and Net Indebtedness Proceeds.

"Notices" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.2.

"Operating Account" means that certain deposit account, held in the name of Christian Homes and maintained at Old National Bank, with account number ending in x4796, currently used as the Debtors' main operating account, which operating account may only be changed with the written consent of the DIP Lender.

"PATRIOT Act" means the Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism Act of 2001 (Public Law 107-56).

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any successor thereto.

"Pension Plan" means any Employee Benefit Plan, other than a Multiemployer Plan, that is subject to Section 412 of the Internal Revenue Code or Section 302 of ERISA.

"Permit" means any permit, license, approval, consent, permission, notice, franchise, confirmation, endorsement, waiver, certification, registration, qualification, clearance or other authorization issued, granted, given or otherwise made available by or under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any federal, state, local or foreign Regulation.

"Permitted Indebtedness" means the Indebtedness permitted pursuant to Section 6.1(a).

"Permitted Investment" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(c).

"Permitted Liens" has the meaning set forth in Section 6.1(b).

"Person" means and includes natural persons, corporations, limited partnerships, general partnerships, limited liability companies, limited liability partnerships, joint stock companies, joint ventures, associations, companies, trusts, banks, trust companies, land

trusts, business trusts or other organizations, whether or not legal entities, other legal entities and Governmental Bodies.

- "Petition Date" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
- "Post-Petition" means following the Petition Date.
- "Pre-Petition Collateral" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
- "<u>Pre-Petition Credit Agreements</u>" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.
- "<u>Pre-Petition Bond Indebtedness</u>" means the Indebtedness issued or loaned and outstanding under a Pre-Petition Credit Agreement, including, without limitation, the Bonds and the Direct Note Obligations.
- "Pre-Petition Obligations" means all obligations of the Debtors arising prior to the Petition Date.
- "<u>Pre-Petition Payment</u>" means a payment (by way of adequate protection or otherwise) of principal or interest or otherwise on account of Pre-Petition Obligations or other pre-petition claims against the Debtors.
- "Pre-Petition Secured Parties" means UMB Bank, N.A., in its capacities as Trustee under the Pre-Petition Credit Agreements.
- "Regulation" means each applicable law, rule, regulation, or order, by any Governmental Body, central bank or comparable agency and any request or directive (if having the force of law) of any of those Persons and each judgment, injunction, order, writ, decree or award of any Governmental Body, arbitrator or other Person.
- "Released Parties" shall have the meaning given such term in Section 9.21.
- "Relevant Property" means, for the Debtors, all sites, facilities, locations, real property and leaseholds (i) presently or formerly owned, leased, used or operated by the Debtors (whether or not such properties are currently owned, leased, used or operated by the Debtors) or (ii) at which any Hazardous Material has been transported, disposed, treated, stored or released by the Debtors.
- "Restricted Resident Deposits" means certain resident deposits held in one or more segregated accounts in the aggregate amount of approximately \$10,000 posted by residents of the Wabash Apartments and Washington Estates facilities.
- "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.
- "Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, association, joint venture or other business entity of which more than

50% of the total voting power of shares of stock or other ownership interests entitled (without regard to the occurrence of any contingency) to vote in the election of the Person or Persons (whether directors, managers, trustees or other Persons performing similar functions) having the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies thereof is at the time owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by that Person or one or more of the other Subsidiaries of that Person or a combination thereof.

"Synthetic Lease" means any lease of goods or other property, whether real or personal, which is treated as an operating lease under GAAP and as a loan or financing for U.S. income tax purposes.

"<u>Tax</u>" means any present or future tax, levy, impost, duty, assessment, charge, fee, deduction or withholding of any nature and whatever called, by whomsoever, on whomsoever and wherever imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed.

"Trustee" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to this Agreement.

"<u>UCC</u>" means the Uniform Commercial Code (or any similar or equivalent legislation) as in effect in the State of New York; provided that if by reason of mandatory provisions of law, the perfection, the effect of perfection or non-perfection or the priority of the DIP Liens is governed by the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in a United States jurisdiction other than New York, then "UCC" shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in such other jurisdiction for purposes of the provisions hereof relating to such perfection, effect of perfection or non-perfection or priority.

"<u>United States Trustee</u>" means the United States Trustee for the Eastern District of Missouri.

"Weekly Budget Report" means, a weekly report certified by an Authorized Officer for the Debtors, substantially in the same form as the Budget, indicating (i) a comparative reconciliation, on a line-by-line and aggregate basis, of actual cash receipts and disbursements against the cash receipts and disbursements forecast in the Budget, and the percentage variance thereof, for (A) the weekly period ended on (and including) the immediately preceding Sunday, (B) a rolling four-week period, and (C) the cumulative period to date; and (ii) a written explanation of such variances.

"Ziegler" means B.C. Ziegler & Co. in its capacity as investment banker to the Debtors.

(b) Capitalized terms used but not defined above or elsewhere herein shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Financing Orders, as applicable.

### ARTICLE II LOANS

#### Section 2.1 DIP Loans.

- (a) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and in the Financing Orders, upon Debtors' request for a DIP Loan in accordance with Section 2.2(b), the DIP Lender agrees to make term loans pursuant to this Section 2.1(a) (collectively, the "DIP Loans") during the DIP Commitment Period in an amount equal to such requested DIP Loan. Each such DIP Loan shall be for purposes consistent with the Budget and otherwise consistent with this Agreement and the Financing Orders; provided that both before and after giving effect to any DIP Loan, the aggregate amount of all DIP Loans made shall not exceed the DIP Loan Commitment. Once repaid, DIP Loans borrowed hereunder may not be reborrowed.
- (b) Any amount borrowed under this Section 2.1 shall, along with all other DIP Obligations (including accrued and unpaid costs, and expenses), be entitled to the DIP Liens on the DIP Collateral and the other rights and benefits provided pursuant to the Financing Orders, this Agreement and the other DIP Loan Documents.

#### Section 2.2 <u>Borrowing Mechanics</u>.

- (a) The DIP Loans shall be funded by the DIP Lender into the Operating Account (which must be a Controlled Account), and anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, shall be disbursed solely in accordance with the Budget and the Financing Orders (both as to timing and amount of any such requests), subject to Sections 3.1 and 3.2.
- (b) Not less than four Business Days prior to any Borrowing Date, the Debtors shall deliver to the DIP Lender a fully executed Borrowing Certificate no later than 10:00 a.m. (New York City time) on such date. Such Borrowing Certificate, a form of which is attached hereto as Exhibit B (each a "Borrowing Certificate"), shall specify the amount of the proposed DIP Loan and the Borrowing Date thereof, and shall certify that the amount of the proposed DIP Loan, after accounting for other available funds held by the Debtors, is reasonably expected to be needed to pay amounts coming due in the fourteen (14) days immediately following such Borrowing Date, as set forth in the Budget. On the Borrowing Date specified in any Borrowing Certificate, the DIP Lender shall disburse such funds to the Operating Account and shall use reasonable efforts to make the funds available to the Debtors no later than 2:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the requested Borrowing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the DIP Lender shall fund an initial amount of up to \$1,500,000 upon entry of the Interim Order and receipt of a Borrowing Certificate, and, for the avoidance of doubt, without the passage of four Business Days.
- Section 2.3 <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. The proceeds of the DIP Loans shall be used by the Debtors, subject to and in accordance with the Budget and the Financing Orders, solely for (i) working capital and general corporate purposes of the Debtors and (ii) bankruptcy-related costs and expenses. None of the proceeds of the DIP Loans shall be used in connection with the investigation (including discovery proceedings), initiation or prosecution of any claims, causes of action, adversary proceedings or other litigation against the DIP Lender (whether in its

capacity as DIP Lender, Master Trustee, Bond Trustee or in any other capacity), the beneficial owners of the Bonds, or any of their respective advisors, agents and sub-agents, including in connection with the validity of the DIP Liens granted to the DIP Lender, or the Liens granted to the Pre-Petition Secured Parties in the Pre-Petition Collateral arising under the Pre-Petition Credit Agreements; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Committee shall have a budget funded with the proceeds of the DIP Loans in an amount up to \$25,000 to investigate the pre-petition liens and claims of the Bond Trustee.

Section 2.4 Evidence of Debt. The DIP Lender shall maintain in its internal records an account or accounts evidencing the DIP Obligations owed to the DIP Lender, including the amounts of the DIP Loans owed to it and each repayment and prepayment in respect thereof. Any such recordation shall be conclusive and binding on the Debtors, absent manifest error; provided, failure to make any such recordation, or any error in such recordation, shall not affect the DIP Loan Commitment, the DIP Loans or any of the DIP Obligations.

#### Section 2.5 Interest and Fees on Loans.

- (a) <u>Applicable Rate; Payment of Interest</u>. Interest shall accrue on the full amount of the DIP Loan Commitment from the Interim Order Entry Date through the Maturity Date at a simple rate per annum equal to 4.589%. Accrued interest shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date.
- (b) <u>Calculation of Interest Rates</u>. Interest payable pursuant to this Section 2.5 shall be computed on a 30/360 basis.
- (c) <u>Default Interest</u>. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, the DIP Loan Commitment and any accrued interest, fees and other amounts owed hereunder shall bear interest at a simple rate of ten percent (10%) per annum.
- Section 2.6 <u>Repayment</u>. Subject to Sections 2.8 and 2.9, the DIP Loans shall be due and payable, and the Debtors shall be required to repay all of the DIP Obligations (including, without limitation, all accrued and unpaid principal, interest, fees, costs, and expenses on the DIP Loans) on the Maturity Date.

#### Section 2.7 Prepayments.

- (a) <u>Mandatory Prepayments of Net Proceeds</u>. No later than the first Business Day following the date of receipt by the Debtors of any Net Proceeds, the Debtors shall prepay the DIP Loans (including the applicable portion of the accrued costs and expenses) as set forth in Section 2.9 in an aggregate amount equal to such Net Proceeds.
- (b) <u>Mandatory Prepayment Certificate</u>. Concurrently with any prepayment of the DIP Loans pursuant to Section 2.7(a), the Debtors shall deliver to the DIP Lender a certificate of an Authorized Officer demonstrating the calculation in reasonable detail of the amount of the applicable Net Proceeds. In the event that the Debtors shall subsequently determine that the actual amount received exceeded the amount set forth in such certificate, the Debtors shall promptly make an additional prepayment of the DIP Loans in accordance with Section 2.9 in an amount equal to such excess, and the Debtors shall concurrently therewith

deliver to the DIP Lender a certificate of an Authorized Officer demonstrating the derivation of such excess.

- (c) <u>Voluntary Prepayment</u>. The Debtors may prepay the DIP Loans (including the applicable portion of the accrued costs and expenses) in whole or in part at any time upon three (3) Business Days' prior notice to the DIP Lender; provided that any partial prepayment will be in a minimum amount of \$100,000.
- Section 2.8 <u>Application of Payments and Proceeds</u>. Any amount required to be paid pursuant to Section 2.7(a) or any other provision of this Agreement, and all proceeds of the DIP Collateral (whether before or after an Event of Default) shall be applied (a) first, to pay any amounts (including reasonable and documented attorneys' fees) payable to the DIP Lender under Section 9.3 hereof, (b) second, to pay accrued and unpaid interest, costs, expenses and other outstanding DIP Obligations, (c) third, to repay any principal amounts outstanding in respect of the DIP Loans, and (d) fourth, to the Debtors.

# Section 2.9 General Provisions Regarding Payments.

- (a) <u>Payments</u>. All payments by the Debtors of principal, interest and other DIP Obligations shall be made by the Debtors to the DIP Lender in Dollars in same day funds, without defense, setoff or counterclaim, free of any restriction or condition, and delivered to the DIP Lender not later than 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the date due at the DIP Lender's office for receipt of notices hereunder (or as otherwise instructed by the DIP Lender to the Debtors) without presentment, demand, protest or notice of any kind, all of which are expressly waived by the Debtors.
- (b) <u>Late Payments</u>. The DIP Lender shall be permitted to consider any payment made by or on behalf of the Debtors that is not made in same day funds prior to 4:00 p.m. (New York City time) as a late payment, and any such late payment shall be deemed received on the next Business Day. The DIP Lender shall give prompt telephonic notice to the Debtors (confirmed in writing) if any payment is considered late hereunder. To the extent any late payment is received, the DIP Lender shall be permitted to declare by notice to the Debtors (confirmed in writing) a Default or Event of Default to the extent so provided under the terms of Section 8.1. Interest shall continue to accrue on any late payment until the Business Day following receipt thereof.
- (c) <u>Payments to Include Accrued Interest</u>. All payments in respect of the principal amount of any DIP Loan shall include payment of accrued interest on the principal amount being repaid or prepaid calculated in accordance with Section 2.5, and all such payments shall be applied to the payment of interest before application to principal.
- (d) <u>Business Days</u>. Whenever any payment to be made hereunder shall be stated to be due on a day that is not a Business Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day and such extension of time shall be included in the computation of the payment of interest hereunder.
- Section 2.10 <u>Termination of DIP Loan Commitments</u>. Unless previously terminated, the DIP Loan Commitment shall automatically terminate at the end of the DIP Commitment

Period. Upon the making of any DIP Loan, the DIP Loan Commitment shall be permanently reduced by an amount equal to the principal amount of such DIP Loan.

# ARTICLE III CONDITIONS PRECEDENT; CONDITIONS SUBSEQUENT

- Section 3.1 <u>Conditions Precedent; Closing Date</u>. The obligation of the DIP Lender to make any DIP Loan on any date on which the Debtors request a Borrowing is subject to the satisfaction, or waiver in accordance with Section 9.1, of the following conditions on or before the Closing Date:
- (a) <u>Certificate</u>. The DIP Lender shall have received a certificate of an Authorized Officer of the Debtors with respect to (i) the articles of incorporation or formation of the Debtors, (ii) the bylaws or operating agreement of the Debtors, (iii) the resolutions of the board of directors or managers of the Debtors approving each DIP Loan Document and such other agreements, instruments, certificates or other documents required to be delivered by the Debtors under the DIP Loan Documents and the performance of the obligations of the Debtors thereunder, and (iv) the names and true signatures of any officers of the Debtors who the Debtors desire to sign DIP Loan Documents from time to time (all of whom shall be Authorized Officers).
- (b) <u>Good Standing Certificate</u>. The DIP Lender shall have received a good standing certificate from the applicable Governmental Body of the jurisdiction of formation of each of the Debtors and in each jurisdiction in which it is qualified as a foreign corporation or other entity to do business, each dated within thirty (30) days prior to the Closing Date.
- Financing Orders. The Financing Orders, and all motions relating thereto, (c) approving and authorizing the DIP Loans, all provisions thereof and the priorities and DIP Liens granted under Bankruptcy Code section 364(c) and (d), as applicable, shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the DIP Lender and its counsel in their sole discretion, the Interim Order shall have been entered by the Bankruptcy Court, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, on or before the date hereof. The Final Order shall be scheduled to be issued no later than August 15, 2024, and shall include, without limitation, provisions (a) modifying the automatic stay to permit the creation and perfection of the DIP Liens, (b) providing for the vacation of such stay to permit the enforcement of the DIP Lender's rights and remedies under the DIP Loan Documents, (c) stating that the DIP Lender, the Pre-Petition Secured Parties, and all of their respective counsel, advisors and consultants, shall each be entitled to the benefit of a "good faith" finding pursuant to section 364(e) of the Bankruptcy Code, (d) prohibiting the assertion of claims arising under sections 506(c) or 552(b) of the Bankruptcy Code against the DIP Lender or the Trustee or the commencement of other actions adverse to the DIP Lender or the Trustee or their respective rights and remedies under the DIP Loan Documents, the Financing Orders, or any other order, (e) prohibiting the incurrence of Indebtedness by Debtors, other than Permitted Indebtedness, with priority equal to or greater than the DIP Loans, (f) prohibiting any granting or imposition of Liens other than DIP Liens and Permitted Liens, (g) authorizing and approving the Debtors to execute and deliver the DIP Loan Documents to which each shall be a party and the transactions contemplated therein, including, without limitation, the granting of the super priority status, the first-priority and priming security interests and DIP Liens upon the DIP Collateral and

the payment of all fees and expenses due to the DIP Lender, (h) authorizing and approving the 'roll-up' of the Trustee's pre-petition claim on a dollar-for-dollar basis and the securing of such roll-up obligations equally and ratably with the Debtors' obligations with respect to the DIP Loans and under the DIP Loan Documents, and (i) confirming that each of the DIP Lender and the Trustee is permitted to Credit Bid (pursuant to section 363(k) of the Bankruptcy Code and/or applicable law) the DIP Loans or the Bonds, as applicable, in whole or in part, in connection with any sale or disposition of assets in the Chapter 11 Cases.

- (d) <u>Compliance with Financing Orders</u>. No Financing Order shall have been reversed, modified, amended, stayed or vacated, in the case of any modification or amendment, in a manner, or relating to a matter, without the consent of the DIP Lender. The Debtors shall be in compliance in all material respects with the Financing Orders and all other orders of the Bankruptcy Court binding on it.
- (e) <u>Debtors-in-Possession</u>. No trustee or examiner with expanded powers shall have been appointed with respect to the Debtors or their properties.
- (f) <u>First Day Motions</u>. All "first day" motions and related orders entered by the Bankruptcy Court in the Chapter 11 Cases shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the DIP Lender and its counsel.
- (g) <u>Sale Motion and Bid Procedures</u>. The Debtors' motion for entry of an order approving bid and sale procedures and to authorize a sale of property free and clear and related orders entered by the Bankruptcy Court (including, without limitation, the order approving bid and sale procedures and the order approving a sale) shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the DIP Lender and its counsel.
- (h) <u>Use of Proceeds and Information</u>. The proceeds of the DIP Loans shall be used by the Debtors solely in accordance with the Budget and the DIP Lender shall receive such information (financial or otherwise) as may be reasonably requested by the DIP Lender.
- (i) <u>Litigation</u>. There shall not exist any material action, suit, investigation, litigation or proceeding pending (other than the Chapter 11 Cases) or threatened in any court or before any Governmental Body that, in the reasonable opinion of the DIP Lender, materially and adversely affects any of the transactions contemplated hereby, or that has or could be reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect. Litigation pending pre-petition for which the automatic stay has not been modified or which is fully covered by insurance shall not be deemed to be litigation reasonably likely to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (j) <u>Cash Management</u>. Cash management arrangements reasonably satisfactory to the DIP Lender in form and substance shall be in place. The DIP Lender or its advisors shall have completed a review of the Debtors' cash management systems and determined that all material amounts of cash and cash equivalents of the Debtors are subject to a DIP Lien in favor of the DIP Lender pursuant to Controlled Account Agreements.
- (k) <u>No Default</u>. No Default or Event of Default shall exist at the time of, or after giving effect to, the transactions contemplated on the Closing Date, including the advancing of any DIP Loans.

- (l) <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. All representations and warranties in the DIP Loan Documents shall be true and correct as of the Closing Date in all material respects.
- (m) <u>UCC Financing Statements</u>. Upon request of the DIP Lender, the Debtors shall promptly provide UCC financing statements covering all personal property DIP Collateral of the Debtors, for filing in all jurisdictions as may be necessary or, in the opinion of the DIP Lender, desirable, to perfect the security interests created in such DIP Collateral pursuant to the DIP Collateral Documents. The Debtors hereby authorize the DIP Lender to file such UCC financing statements, whether or not actually provided by the Debtors.
- (n) <u>DIP Loan Documents</u>. The DIP Lender shall have received duly executed copies of each DIP Loan Document (other than any DIP Loan Document which the DIP Lender has allowed to be executed at a later date), with originals to promptly follow. The financing statements and other DIP Loan Documents related to perfection of the security interest and Liens of the DIP Lender in the DIP Collateral shall, at the DIP Lender's option, have been filed in all appropriate jurisdictions (or arrangements for such filings acceptable to the DIP Lender shall have been made).
- (o) Other Actions to Perfect Security Interests. The DIP Lender shall have received evidence that Debtors shall have taken or caused to be taken any other action, executed and delivered or caused to be executed and delivered any other agreement, document and instrument, and made or caused to be made any other filing and recording (other than as set forth herein), reasonably required by the DIP Lender to perfect, and to ensure the perfection of, its security interests in the DIP Collateral with the priority required by the DIP Loan Documents.
- (p) <u>Other Information</u>. The DIP Lender shall have received any other financial or non-financial information regarding the Debtors that the DIP Lender reasonably requested at least five (5) Business Days prior to the Closing Date.
- q) <u>DIP Lender's Professional Fees and Costs.</u> The Financing Orders shall require the Debtors to pay all reasonable out-of-pocket fees and expenses of the DIP Lender incurred in connection with this Agreement and the other DIP Loan Documents, including the fees, costs and expenses of Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, PC., as counsel to the DIP Lender, and any other attorneys' fees, costs and expenses of local counsel to the DIP Lender. For the avoidance of doubt, and notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the obligation of the Debtors to pay, and the payment of, the fees and expenses of the DIP Lender as aforesaid shall not be subject to the Budget. The DIP Lender shall be satisfied, in its reasonable discretion, that all such fees and expenses constitute DIP Obligations under the Financing Orders and are secured by the DIP Liens on the DIP Collateral. Such fees may be paid from an advance under the DIP Loan provided there is availability under DIP Loan Commitment at the relevant time.
- (r) <u>No Material Adverse Change</u>. The Debtors, as debtors-in-possession, shall have continued to materially operate their businesses in the ordinary course through the Closing Date, and since the Petition Date there shall have been no Material Adverse Effect taken as a whole.

- Section 3.2 <u>Conditions to Each Borrowing</u>. The obligations of the DIP Lender to make any DIP Loan on any Borrowing Date, including the Closing Date, is subject to the satisfaction, or waiver in accordance with Section 9.1, of the following conditions precedent:
- (a) <u>Borrowing Certificate</u>. The DIP Lender shall have received a fully executed and delivered Borrowing Certificate, in accordance with Section 2.2. Each Borrowing Certificate shall be executed by an Authorized Officer of the Debtors and delivered to the DIP Lender on a Business Day.
- (b) Representations and Warranties. As of such Borrowing Date (both before and after giving effect to the advance of the DIP Loans and application of its proceeds), the representations and warranties of the Debtors contained in the DIP Loan Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of that Borrowing Date, as if made on and as of that Borrowing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties specifically relate to an earlier date, such representations and warranties were true and correct on and as of such earlier date).
- (c) <u>No Event of Default</u>. As of such Borrowing Date, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would result from the consummation of the applicable Borrowing (or the application of its proceeds).
- (d) <u>Consents</u>. The DIP Lender shall have received such Consents and other information, approvals, opinions or documents reasonably requested by the DIP Lender in connection with such Borrowing.
- (e) <u>Available Commitments</u>. After making the DIP Loans requested on such Borrowing Date, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the DIP Loans shall not exceed the amount of the DIP Loan Commitment.
- (f) <u>No Material Adverse Effect</u>. Since the Interim Order Entry Date, no Material Adverse Effect as to the Debtors taken as a whole shall have occurred after giving effect to the making of the DIP Loans.
- (g) <u>Other Information</u>. The DIP Lender shall have received any other financial or non-financial information regarding the Debtors that the DIP Lender reasonably requested within a reasonable time after request is made for such information.
- Section 3.3 <u>Conditions Subsequent</u>. The Debtors shall timely perform all obligations and commitments in any post-closing agreement between the DIP Lender and the Debtors with respect to any requirement of Sections 3.1 or 3.2 hereof that the DIP Lender has, in the exercise of its sole and absolute discretion, agreed to be satisfied at a later date.

# ARTICLE IV REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 4.1 <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. To induce the DIP Lender to enter into this Agreement and to make each DIP Loan to be made hereby, each Debtor hereby represents

and warrants to the DIP Lender as to itself that, on the Closing Date and on each Borrowing Date as follows:

- Status; Authorization. Such Debtor is duly organized, validly existing, (a) and in good standing under the laws of its jurisdiction of formation and is duly qualified and in good standing in every other jurisdiction where it is doing business except where the failure to so qualify could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and, subject to the entry by the Bankruptcy Court of the Financing Orders, the execution, delivery and performance by such Debtor of the DIP Loan Documents (i) are within its respective authority, (ii) have been duly authorized, and (iii) do not conflict with or contravene its constitutive documents. Subject to the entry by the Bankruptcy Court of the Financing Orders, the execution, delivery, performance of its obligations, and exercise of its rights under the DIP Loan Documents by such Debtor, including, without limitation, the making of the DIP Loans under this Agreement, (y) do not require any Consents that have not been obtained or notices to third parties that have not been provided except to the extent such failure would not result in a Material Adverse Effect and (z) are not and will not be in conflict with or be prohibited or prevented by (A) any Regulation, (B) any corporate or entity governance document, corporate or entity minute or resolution of such Debtor or (C) any instrument, agreement or provision thereof, in each case binding on it or affecting any of its property.
- (b) <u>Execution and Binding Effect</u>. Subject to the entry by the Bankruptcy Court of the Financing Orders, upon execution and delivery thereof, each DIP Loan Document shall constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Debtor, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

# (c) <u>Properties</u>.

- (i) Such Debtor has good and marketable title to all real property owned or purported to be owned by it, in each case free of all Liens other than the Permitted Liens.
- (ii) Such Debtor enjoys, and will enjoy, peaceful and undisturbed possession of, or a lease or license to use, all property (subject only to the Permitted Liens) that is necessary for the conduct of its business.
- (d) <u>Litigation</u>. Except for the Chapter 11 Cases, other than with respect to pending litigation stayed by operation of section 362 of the Bankruptcy Code, there are no material legal or other proceedings or investigations pending or, to the Knowledge of such Debtor, threatened against such Debtor before any court, tribunal or regulatory authority which could, if adversely determined, alone or together, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Litigation fully covered by insurance coverage shall not be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (e) <u>Governmental Approvals and Filings</u>. Other than the Bankruptcy Court's entry of the Financing Orders and the filings and recordings contemplated by the DIP Collateral Documents, no approval, order, consent, authorization, certificate, license, permit or validation of, or exemption or other action by, or filing, recording or registration with, or notice to, any

Governmental Body is or will be necessary in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or any other DIP Loan Document, consummation by such Debtor of the transactions herein or therein contemplated, or performance of or compliance with the terms and conditions hereof or thereof. Such Debtor is not an "investment company" or a company "controlled" by an "investment company," with the meaning of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended.

- (f) Absence of Conflicts. Subject to the Bankruptcy Court's entry of the Financing Orders, the execution and delivery by such Debtor of this Agreement and each other DIP Loan Document to which it is a party and performance by it hereunder and thereunder will not violate any law (including, without limitation, Regulations T, U and X of the Federal Reserve Board) and will not conflict with or result in a breach of any order, writ, injunction, resolution, decree or other similar document or instrument of any court or Governmental Body or its certificate of incorporation or by-laws or similar constituent documents or create (with or without the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both) a default under or breach of any material agreement, bond, note or indenture, in each case to which it is a party (by successor in interest or otherwise), or by which it is bound or any material portion of its properties or assets is affected, in each case, the effect of which could reasonably be expected to be, have or reflect in a Material Adverse Effect or, except under the DIP Collateral Documents, result in the imposition of any Lien (other than Permitted Liens) of any nature whatsoever upon any of the properties or assets owned by or used in connection with the business of such Debtor.
- (g) <u>DIP Collateral</u>. From and after the Interim Order Entry Date, the DIP Lender shall have first-priority perfected security interests and DIP Liens in and to all of the DIP Collateral, free and clear of any Liens other than the Permitted Liens or Liens set forth in the Interim Order in favor of HUD and IHDA, and entitled to priority under applicable law, with no financing statements, hypothecations, chattel mortgages, real estate mortgages or similar filings on record with respect to such Debtor or the DIP Collateral anywhere other than such filings in connection with this Agreement, the DIP Collateral Documents or the Permitted Liens. Each of the representations and warranties made by such Debtor in each DIP Collateral Document to which it is a party is true and correct in all material respects as of each date made or deemed made.
- (h) <u>Material Misstatements and Omissions</u>. Any projections and pro forma financial information contained in or delivered pursuant to any DIP Loan Document (including the Budget and each Weekly Budget Report) or any other document, certificate or written statement furnished to the DIP Lender pursuant to any DIP Loan Document are based upon good faith estimates and assumptions believed by such Debtor to be reasonable at the time made.
- (i) <u>Budgets</u>. All facts in the Budget and each Weekly Budget Report (when delivered) are accurate in all material respects and such Debtor has disclosed to the DIP Lender all material assumptions in the Budget and each Weekly Budget Report. After giving effect to the DIP Loans projected to be made under the Budget, such Debtor believes, in good faith and in the exercise of its commercially reasonable judgment, that it has or will have sufficient capital and funds to pay and satisfy the expenses, obligations and liabilities of such Debtor as set forth, as and when provided to be paid or satisfied, in the Budget.

- (j) <u>Labor Practices</u>. To the Knowledge of such Debtor, such Debtor is not engaged in any unfair labor practice that could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (k) Employee Benefits. Each of the Employee Benefit Plans intended to qualify under Section 401 of the Internal Revenue Code so qualifies, and nothing has occurred with respect to the operation of such plan which would cause the loss of such qualification or the imposition of any material liability, penalty or tax under ERISA or the Internal Revenue Code. All contributions and premiums required by law or by the terms of each Employee Benefit Plan have been timely made. Neither such Debtor nor its ERISA Affiliates bear any liability for any Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan and have not had any liability under any Pension Plan or Multiemployer Plan for the last 6 years

#### (1) Environmental Matters.

- (i) There are no Environmental Liabilities at any Relevant Property, which individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- Such Debtor: (A) has operated its business in compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws; (B) has obtained all Environmental Permits required by applicable Environmental Laws for the ownership and operation of its properties, and all such Environmental Permits are in full force and effect or such Person has made all appropriate filings for issuance or renewal of such Environmental Permits; (C) to its Knowledge, is not aware of any acts, omissions, events or circumstances that may interfere with or prevent continued compliance with the Environmental Laws and Environmental Permits referred to in the preceding clauses (A) and (B); (D) has not received written notice of any asserted or threatened claim, action, suit, proceeding, hearing, investigation or request for information relating to any environmental matter; and (E) has not received notice from any Governmental Body that such Debtor is a potentially responsible party under any Environmental Law at any disposal site containing Hazardous Materials, nor has such Debtor received any notice that any lien under any Environmental Law against any property of such Debtor exists, except for matters in each case of (A) through (E) above, which individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (m) <u>Insurance</u>. The policies, binders or self-insurance programs for fire, liability, product liability, workmen's compensation, vehicular and other insurance currently held by or on behalf of such Debtor insure its material properties and business activities against such losses and risks as are reasonably believed to be adequate to protect its properties in accordance with customary industry practice. As of the date hereof, all such policies, binders and self-insurance programs are in full force and effect. As of the date hereof, such Debtor has not received notice from any insurer or agent of such insurer that substantial capital improvements or other expenditures are required. As of the date hereof, such Debtor has not received notice of cancellation of any material insurance policy or binder.

- (n) <u>Absence of Events of Default and Material Adverse Effect</u>. Since the Interim Order Entry Date, no Default or Event of Default has occurred. Since the Interim Order Entry Date, no Material Adverse Effect has occurred.
- (o) <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. Except as otherwise excused by the Bankruptcy Code, such Debtor has complied, and is in compliance in all respects, with all laws, except for such instances of non-compliance that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (p) Margin Regulations. No part of the proceeds of the DIP Loans issued hereunder will be used for the purpose of buying or carrying any Margin Stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of buying or carrying any Margin Stock, in either case in a manner which would violate or conflict with Regulations T, U or X of the Board Governors of the Federal Reserve System. Such Debtor is not engaged in the business of extending credit to others for the purpose of buying or carrying Margin Stock. Neither the making of the DIP Loans nor any use of proceeds of any such Loans will violate or conflict with the provisions of Regulations T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, as amended from time to time.
- (q) <u>Taxes</u>. Such Debtor has filed all federal and other material Post-Petition Tax returns required to be filed by it and has not failed to pay any material Post-Petition Taxes, or interest and penalties relating thereto, except for Post-Petition Taxes not yet due and except for those the amount or validity of which is currently being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued and available to such Debtor and with respect to which adequate reserves have been set aside on its books in accordance with GAAP.

# ARTICLE V AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

- Section 5.1 <u>Affirmative Covenants</u>. The Debtors covenant and agree that until payment in full of all DIP Obligations (other than indemnification obligations for which no claim has been made as of the applicable date of determination, which indemnity obligations shall continue in full after payment of all DIP Obligations), the Debtors shall perform all the covenants in this Article V applicable to it:
  - (a) Reporting Requirements. The Debtors shall furnish to the DIP Lender:
  - (i) no later than 5:00 p.m. (prevailing Eastern time) on Friday of each week or if such Friday is not a Business Day, then the immediate succeeding Business Day, the Weekly Budget Report;
  - (ii) at any time the Debtors receive any material written notice from any Governmental Body, the Debtors shall provide a copy of such notice to the DIP Lender within one (1) Business Day of receipt, and the Debtors shall provide to the DIP Lender copies of all material reports, certificates and notices that the Debtors may provide to any Governmental Body within one (1) Business Day of transmission;

- (iii) a monthly reporting package, no later than thirty (30) days after the end of each calendar month, including cash flow, income statement and balance sheet for such month, occupancy date for the last day of such month, accounts payable and receivable reports with aging information; and
- (iv) as promptly as reasonably practicable from time to time following the DIP Lender's reasonable request therefor, such other information (including historical information) regarding the operations, business affairs and financial condition of the Debtors, the progress of the Chapter 11 Cases or compliance with the terms of any DIP Loan Document.

In addition to the foregoing, the Debtors agree to cooperate with, and to instruct its advisors (including, without limitation, Ziegler) to cooperate with the DIP Lender and its advisors in connection with the marketing of the Debtors' assets. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Debtors shall cause Ziegler to (i) provide weekly written 'scorecard' updates on its marketing efforts, (ii) participate in calls with the DIP Lender and/or its advisors on a weekly basis (or less frequently, if so agreed by the DIP Lender, in its sole discretion), and (iii) participate in independent calls with the DIP Lender's advisors from time to time and upon request.

- (in all material respects) books of account in accordance with past practices and shall permit the DIP Lender, or any of its designated representatives, upon reasonable notice and at the expense of the Debtors, during normal business hours to examine the books of account of the Debtors (and to make copies and/or extracts therefrom) and to discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of the Debtors with, and to be advised as to the same by, the managers, executives and officers of the Debtors and to be advised as to such or other business records upon the reasonable request of the DIP Lender. The Debtors authorize the DIP Lender and its agents or representatives to, during normal business hours and with reasonable prior notice, perform inspections of the Facilities. Management, advisors, consultants and senior personnel of the Debtors shall be available upon reasonable advance notice from the DIP Lender (or its agents or representatives) for meetings with the DIP Lender and its agents or representatives during normal business hours with reasonable prior notice and at such reasonable locations.
- (c) Existence; Maintenance of Properties; Compliance with Regulations. The Debtors shall maintain their corporate/entity/legal existence and business, maintain their assets in good operating conditions and repair (subject to ordinary wear and tear and casualty damage and to all provisions of this Agreement permitting sales of certain of the Debtors' assets), keep their businesses and assets insured in accordance herewith, maintain their chief executive office in the United States, continue to engage in the same or substantially similar lines of business as of the Petition Date, and comply in all respects with all Regulations, including without limitation, ERISA and Environmental Laws, except where a failure to do so could not individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
- (d) <u>Notice of Material Events</u>. The Debtors shall notify the DIP Lender promptly in writing upon an Authorized Officer becoming aware of any of the following: (i) the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default, (ii) any noncompliance with any Environmental

Law or proceeding in respect thereof which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, (iii) any change of chief executive office address of the Debtors, (iv) any pending or, to the Knowledge of the Debtors, threatened litigation or similar proceeding affecting the Debtors not subject to the automatic stay under Section 362 involving claims in excess of \$100,000 in the aggregate or any material change in any such litigation or proceeding previously reported, (v) claims or liens in excess of \$100,000 in the aggregate against any assets or properties of the Debtors encumbered in favor of the DIP Lender, and (vi) any other development that results in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect.

#### (e) Further Assurances.

- (i) The Debtors shall cooperate with the DIP Lender, take such action, execute such documents, and provide such information as the DIP Lender may from time to time reasonably request in order to effect the transactions contemplated by and the purposes and intent of the DIP Loan Documents.
- The Debtors shall promptly, upon request by the DIP Lender, correct, and cause each of the other parties to the DIP Loan Documents to promptly correct, any defect or error that may be discovered in any DIP Loan Document or in the execution, acknowledgment or recordation of the DIP Loan Document. Promptly upon request by the DIP Lender, the Debtors shall execute, authorize, acknowledge, deliver, record, file and register, any and all such further acts, deeds, conveyances, documents, security agreements, pledge agreements, mortgages, deeds of trust, trust deeds, assignments, financing statements and continuations, notices of assignment, transfers, certificates, assurances and other instruments as the DIP Lender may require from time to time in order to carry out more effectively the purposes and intent of each DIP Loan Document. Without limiting the foregoing, the Debtors shall (A) authorize the filing by the DIP Lender of UCC-1 financing statements for all jurisdictions deemed necessary or desirable by the DIP Lender, and (B) take such action from time to time (including, without limitation, authorizing, filing, executing and/or delivering such assignments, security agreements and other instruments) as shall be reasonably requested by the DIP Lender to create, in favor of the DIP Lender, to the extent required under the respective DIP Collateral Documents and to the maximum extent permitted under applicable law, a first-priority perfected Lien in all of the DIP Collateral.

#### (f) <u>Controlled Account Agreements</u>.

(i) The Debtors shall use their commercially reasonable efforts within a reasonable period of time after entry of the Interim Order to enter into an account control agreement in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the DIP Lender (each, a "Controlled Account Agreement") as necessary to provide the DIP Lender, to the extent not prohibited by applicable law, with "control" over, except as set forth below, each Deposit Account of the Debtors (each, a "Controlled Account") as provided for under Section 9-104 of Article 9 of the

UCC (or other applicable law) for the purpose of perfecting the security interest which the DIP Lender has in such Deposit Account pursuant to the DIP Collateral Documents. The Debtors further agree to promptly enter into Controlled Account Agreements for any new Deposit Accounts opened during the DIP Commitment Period, which new Deposit Accounts shall only be opened following notice to, and written consent from, the DIP Lender. No arrangement contemplated hereby or by any Controlled Account Agreement in respect of any such Deposit Account of the Debtors, shall be modified by the Debtors without the prior written consent of the DIP Lender. For the avoidance of doubt, to the extent that any Deposit Account is subject to an existing Controlled Account Agreement in favor of the Trustee as of the Petition Date, the Debtors shall not be required under this Section 5.1(f) to enter into additional Controlled Account Agreements in favor of the DIP Lender with respect to any such Deposit Accounts.

- Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, but subject to the Debtor Default Period Rights, any disbursements of proceeds in any Controlled Account will only be made at the direction of the DIP Lender; prior to the occurrence of an Event of Default, the Debtors will have access to any funds on deposit in the Controlled Accounts for use solely in accordance with this Agreement and the other DIP Loan Documents. The DIP Lender assumes no responsibility for the Controlled Accounts, including, without limitation, any claim of accord and satisfaction or release with respect to deposits which any banks accept thereunder. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, all remittances which the Debtors receive in payment of any Accounts, and the proceeds of any other DIP Collateral, shall be (A) kept separate and apart from the Debtors' own funds so that they are capable of identification as the DIP Lender's property; (B) held by the Debtors as trustee of an express trust for the DIP Lender's benefit; and (C) immediately deposited in such accounts designated by the DIP Lender. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, but subject to the Debtor Default Period Rights, all proceeds received or collected by the DIP Lender with respect to the Controlled Accounts, and reserves and other property of the Debtors in possession of the DIP Lender at any time or times hereafter, may be held by the DIP Lender, as the case may be, without interest to the Debtors until all DIP Obligations are paid in full or applied by the DIP Lender on account of the DIP Obligations. The DIP Lender may release to the Debtors such portions of such reserves and proceeds as the DIP Lender may determine. The DIP Lender shall not have any duty to protect, insure, collect or realize upon the Controlled Accounts or to preserve rights in them.
- (g) <u>Insurance</u>. The Debtors shall maintain, at their own expense, and keep in effect with responsible insurance companies, such liability insurance for bodily injury and third-party property damage as the Debtors had in place as of the Petition Date. The Debtors shall keep and maintain, at their own expense, the Debtors' material real and personal property insured against loss or damage by fire, theft, explosion, spoilage and all other risks, each in the same amount as the Debtors had in place as of the Petition Date. The DIP Lender shall be named as an additional insured and/or loss payee, as applicable, on each such insurance policy.

- (h) <u>Information Regarding DIP Collateral</u>. The Debtors will furnish to the DIP Lender prompt written notice of any change in (i) any the Debtors' corporate or entity name or any trade name used to identify it in the conduct of its business or the Debtors' chief executive office, its principal place of business or its jurisdiction of organization or (ii) the Debtors' federal Taxpayer Identification Number. The Debtors will not affect or permit any change referred to in the preceding sentence unless arrangements satisfactory to the DIP Lender have been made to ensure that all filings will be (or have been) made under the UCC and all other actions have been taken that are required so that such change will not at any time adversely affect the validity, perfection or priority of any Lien established under any DIP Loan Document on the DIP Collateral.
- (i) Existence; Conduct of Business. The Debtors will do or cause to be done all things reasonably necessary to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect its legal existence and the rights, licenses, permits (including, without limitation, Environmental Permits) privileges, franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade names material to the conduct of its business, except to the extent that failure to so act, which either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The Debtors shall maintain its credit and risk policies substantially as in effect on the Petition Date.
- (j) <u>Payment of Obligations</u>. Proceeds of the DIP Loans shall be used solely as provided in Section 2.3 of this Agreement.
- (k) <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. Except as otherwise excused by the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors will comply with all laws (including, without limitation, all Environmental Laws), rules, licenses, permits, Regulations and orders of any Governmental Body applicable to it or its property, except where failures to do so, in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (l) <u>Subsidiaries</u>. Without limitation of the prohibition against forming Subsidiaries under Section 6.1(f) or waiving any Event of Default arising therefrom, if any operating Subsidiary is nonetheless formed or acquired by the Debtors after the Closing Date, the Debtors will, prior to the date upon which such Subsidiary is formed or acquired, notify the DIP Lender thereof and promptly following such formation or acquisition, cause any equity interest in, assets owned or leased by, or Indebtedness owned by or on behalf, of such Subsidiary to be added to the DIP Collateral. The DIP Lender may require that any such Subsidiary be joined to this Agreement or the DIP Collateral Documents as a borrower or debtor hereunder or thereunder pursuant to joinder agreements in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the DIP Lender.
- (m) <u>Bankruptcy Milestones</u>. The Debtors shall comply with the Bankruptcy Milestones; provided that with respect to Bankruptcy Milestones concerning the designation of, or any action by, a Stalking Horse Bidder, the Debtors shall not be in default if the DIP Lender or the Trustee does not approve any of the bids submitted by the Stalking Horse Bid Deadline to serve as a stalking horse bid by the Stalking Horse Selection Date.

### ARTICLE VI NEGATIVE COVENANTS/BUDGET COMPLIANCE

- Section 6.1 <u>Negative Covenants</u>. The Debtors covenant and agree that until all of the DIP Obligations (other than indemnification obligations for which no claim has been made as of the applicable date of determination, which indemnity obligations shall continue in full after payment of all DIP Obligations) have been paid or satisfied in full, the Debtors shall perform all covenants in this Section 6.1 applicable to them:
- (a) <u>Indebtedness</u>. The Debtors shall not incur, create, assume, become or be liable in any manner with respect to, or permit to exist, any Indebtedness, or guarantee, assume, endorse, or otherwise become responsible for (directly or indirectly), any Indebtedness, performance, obligations or dividends of any other Person, except:
  - (i) the DIP Obligations;
  - (ii) the Pre-Petition Bond Indebtedness; and
  - (iii) Indebtedness, including post-petition administrative expenses, incurred in the ordinary course of the Debtors' operations and in compliance with the Budget; provided that such Indebtedness remains at all times unsecured except as provided in Section 6.1(b).
- (b) <u>Liens</u>. The Debtors shall not create or incur any Liens on any of the property or assets of the Debtors, except (the Liens described in the following clauses, the "Permitted Liens"):
  - (i) the Liens of the DIP Lender securing the DIP Obligations;
  - (ii) Liens of the Pre-Petition Secured Parties securing the Pre-Petition Bond Indebtedness, including the Liens granted pursuant to the Financing Orders and other Liens existing on the date hereof;
  - (iii) Liens on the HUD-Financed Properties or the IHDA-Financed Properties securing loans made by HUD or IHDA, as applicable, and existing on the date hereof;
  - (iv) Liens securing the payment of taxes, assessments or other governmental charges or levies either not yet overdue or the validity of which are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued and available to the Debtors and with respect to which adequate reserves have been set aside on its books;
  - (v) non-consensual statutory Liens (other than Liens securing the payment of taxes) arising in the ordinary course of the Debtors' business to the extent: (A) such Liens secure Indebtedness which is not overdue or (B) such Liens secure Indebtedness relating to claims or liabilities which are fully insured and being defended at the sole cost and expense and at the sole risk of the insurer

or being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently pursued by the Debtors, in each case prior to the commencement of foreclosure or other similar proceedings and with respect to which adequate reserves have been set aside on its books;

- (vi) zoning and land use restrictions, easements, encumbrances, licenses, covenants and other restrictions affecting the use of real property which do not interfere in any material respect with the use of such real property or ordinary conduct of the business of the Debtors as presently conducted thereon or materially impair the value of the real property which may be subject thereto;
- (vii) purchase money security interests in Equipment (including Capital Leases) to secure Indebtedness permitted under Section 6.1(a)(ii) hereof;
- (viii) pledges and deposits of cash by the Debtors after the date hereof in the ordinary course of business in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other types of social security benefits consistent with the current practices of the Debtors as of the date hereof; and
- (c) Liens arising from (A) operating leases and the precautionary UCC financing statement filings in respect thereof and (B) Equipment or other materials which are not owned by the Debtors located on the premises of the Debtors (but not in connection with, or as part of, the financing thereof) from time to time in the ordinary course of business and consistent with current practices of the Debtors and the precautionary UCC financing statement filings in respect thereof. Investments. The Debtors shall not make any Investments other than Investments in: (i) marketable obligations of the United States maturing within one (1) year; (ii) certificates of deposit, bankers' acceptances and time and demand deposits of United States banks having total assets in excess of \$1,000,000,000 or other similar cash equivalents; and (iii) existing Investments on the Closing Date shown on the Budget or financial statements (each of (i) through (iii) above, a "Permitted Investment").
- (d) Mergers; Asset Sales. Other than any disposals of obsolete, worn out or surplus property and the license or sublicense of intellectual property, the Debtors shall not, without the written consent of the DIP Lender, (i) consummate a merger, amalgamation or consolidation, (ii) enter into any asset purchase agreement, (iii) purchase, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of assets other than inventory in the ordinary course, (iv) make any changes in the corporate structure or identity of the Debtors which could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or (v) enter into any binding agreement to do any of the foregoing.
- (e) <u>Restricted Payments</u>. The Debtors shall not directly or indirectly, declare, order, pay, make or set apart any sum for any Indebtedness other than the DIP Loans or the Pre-Petition Bond Indebtedness or any other payments permitted by the Bankruptcy Court subject to the Budget.
- (f) <u>Subsidiaries</u>. The Debtors shall not form, or cause to be formed, any Subsidiary without the written consent of the DIP Lender.

- (g) <u>Chapter 11 Claims</u>. Except as provided in the Financing Orders, the Debtors will not incur, create, assume, suffer to exist or permit any other superpriority expense claim under section 364 of the Bankruptcy Code or any or Lien which is senior to or *pari passu* with, the Liens securing the DIP Obligations.
- Section 6.2 Budget Compliance. The Debtors shall comply with the Budget (subject to the permitted variances provided in the next immediate sentence), and shall not make any payments, or incur any obligations or liabilities, that are not projected and provided for in the Budget. For any Measuring Period (as defined below), the Debtors (i) shall not permit payments for such Measuring Period to exceed (x) one hundred ten percent (110%) of the respective amounts, measured as to each line item in the Budget and (y) one hundred five percent (105%) of the respective amounts, measured on an aggregate basis, as set forth for such Measuring Period; provided that expenditures for estate professional fees shall not exceed one hundred percent (100%) of the amount allocated for such expenditures in the Budget for such Measuring Period, and (ii) shall not permit receipts for such Measuring Period to be less than ninety percent (90%) of the amounts, on an aggregate basis, set forth for such Measuring Period. These variances (the "Variances") shall be measured, on a rolling four week period (the "Measuring Period"); provided, for the avoidance of doubt, that Measuring Periods for the first three weeks shall include pre-petition periods in the calculations of Variances for such Measuring Periods. The Debtors may, at any time, amend or reforecast the Budget, either for the period covered by the Budget or for any period thereafter, and the DIP Lender and Trustee may approve or not approve such amendment in their sole and absolute discretion. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, if the Debtors exceed, or on a commercially reasonable basis expect to exceed, any line item in the Budget by at least \$100,000, they shall immediately notify the DIP Lender and the Trustee.

# ARTICLE VII INCREASED COSTS; TAXES; SET OFF; ETC.

## Section 7.1 <u>Taxes; Withholdings</u>.

- (a) Payments to be Free and Clear. Except as otherwise required under this Section 7.1, all sums payable by the Debtors hereunder and under the other DIP Loan Documents shall (except to the extent required by law) be paid free and clear of, and without any deduction or withholding on account of, any Tax (other than an Excluded Tax) imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within the United States of America or any political subdivision in or of the United States of America or any other jurisdiction from or to which a payment is made by or on behalf of the Debtors or by any federation or organization of which the United States of America or any such jurisdiction is a member at the time of payment.
- (b) <u>Withholding of Taxes</u>. If the Debtors are required by law to make any deduction or withholding on account of any such Tax from any sum paid or payable by the Debtors to the DIP Lender in the ordinary or general conduct of business: (i) the Debtors shall notify the DIP Lender of any such requirement or any change in any such requirement as soon as the Debtors become aware of it, (ii) the Debtors shall pay any such Tax before the date on which penalties attach thereto, such payment to be made (if the liability to pay is imposed on Debtors) for its own account or (if that liability is imposed on the DIP Lender) on behalf of and in the

name of the DIP Lender, (iii) if such Tax is an Indemnified Tax, the sum payable by the Debtors in respect of which the relevant deduction, withholding or payment is required shall be increased to the extent necessary to ensure that, after the making of that deduction, withholding or payment, the DIP Lender, as the case may be, receives on the an amount equal to what it would have received had no such deduction, withholding or payment been required or made, and (iv) within 30 days after paying any sum from which it is required by law to make any deduction or withholding, and within 30 days after the due date of payment of any Tax which it is required by clause (ii) above to pay, the Debtors shall deliver to the DIP Lender evidence satisfactory to the other affected parties of such deduction, withholding or payment and of the remittance thereof to the relevant taxing or other authority.

(c) <u>Taxpayer Identification</u>. Upon the reasonable request of the Debtors, the DIP Lender shall deliver to the Debtors two (2) properly completed and duly executed copies of United States Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (certifying that the DIP Lender is entitled to an exemption from U.S. backup withholding tax) or any successor form on or before the date the DIP Lender becomes a party hereto. Upon the reasonable request of the Debtors, the DIP Lender also agrees to deliver to the Debtors two (2) further copies of said Form W-9, properly completed and duly executed, on or before the date that any such form expires or becomes obsolete or after the occurrence of any event requiring a change in the most recent form previously delivered by it to the Debtors, and such extensions or renewals thereof as may reasonably be requested by the Debtors, unless in any such case an event (including, without limitation, any change in treaty, law or regulation) has occurred prior to the date on which any such delivery would otherwise be required that renders all such forms inapplicable or that would prevent the DIP Lender from duly completing and delivering any such form with respect to it and the DIP Lender so advises the Debtors.

Section 7.2 Right of Set Off. In addition to any rights now or hereafter granted under applicable law and not by way of limitation of any such rights, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, the DIP Lender is hereby authorized by the Debtors at any time or from time to time, without notice to the Debtors (except as expressly set forth in the Financing Orders) or to any other Person, any such notice being hereby expressly waived, to set off and to appropriate and to apply any and all deposits (general or special, including Indebtedness evidenced by certificates of deposit, whether matured or unmatured, but not including trust accounts) and any other Indebtedness at any time held or owing by the DIP Lender to or for the credit or the account of the Debtors against and on account of the DIP Obligations of the Debtors to the DIP Lender hereunder, irrespective of whether or not (a) the DIP Lender shall have made any demand hereunder or (b) the principal of or the interest on the DIP Loans or any other amounts due hereunder or the other DIP Loan Documents shall have become due and payable and although such obligations and liabilities, or any of them, may be contingent or unmatured; provided that the DIP Lender shall notify the Debtors promptly upon the exercise of any set-off and the appropriation and application made by the DIP Lender, but the failure to give such notice shall not affect the validity of such set-off and application.

### ARTICLE VIII EVENTS OF DEFAULT

- Section 8.1 <u>Events of Default</u>. Any one or more of the following events which shall occur and be continuing shall constitute an "<u>Event of Default</u>":
- (a) <u>Failure to Make Payments When Due</u>. Failure by the Debtors to pay any of the DIP Obligations, including failure by the Debtors to pay when due principal of, or interest on, the DIP Loans, whether at stated maturity, by acceleration, by mandatory prepayment or otherwise, or any other amount due hereunder and set forth in the Budget;
- (b) <u>Failure to Make Adequate Protection Payments</u>. Failure by the Debtors to timely pay to the Trustee any and all adequate protection payments in accordance with the Financing Orders.
- (c) <u>Breach of Certain Covenants</u>. Failure of the Debtors to perform or comply with any material term or condition contained in Section 2.3, Article V or Article VI, including, without limitation, failure to meet or comply with the terms of the Budget (including permitted variances) or to timely achieve the Bankruptcy Milestones, and such default shall not have been remedied by the Debtors (to the extent possible) or waived by the DIP Lender within three (3) business days after the earlier of (i) the date upon which an Authorized Officer of the Debtors had Knowledge of such default and (ii) the date upon which notice thereof is given to the Debtors by the DIP Lender;
- (d) <u>Breach of Representations</u>. Any representation, warranty, certification or other written statement made or deemed made by the Debtors in any DIP Loan Document or in any statement or certificate at any time given by the Debtors in writing, pursuant hereto or thereto or in connection herewith or therewith shall be false in any material respect as of the date made or deemed made;
- (e) Other Defaults Under DIP Loan Documents. The Debtors shall default in the performance of or compliance with any term contained in any of the DIP Loan Documents, other than any such term referred to in any other section of this Section 8.1, and such default shall not have been remedied or waived within seven (7) days after the earlier of (i) the date upon which an Authorized Officer of the Debtors had Knowledge of such default and (ii) the date upon which notice thereof is given to the Debtors by the DIP Lender;
- Chapter 11 Cases which does not contain a provision for termination of this Agreement, and payment in full in cash of all Obligations upon entry of such order dismissing the Chapter 11 Cases (other than contingent indemnification obligations for which no claim has been made) or converting the Chapter 11 Cases to cases under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, or the Debtors file a motion or other pleading seeking entry of such an order or supports or fails to timely oppose such dismissal or conversion; or (ii) the entry of an order whereby a trustee, responsible officer or an examiner having expanded powers under Bankruptcy Code Section 1104 (other than (x) a fee examiner or (y) for purposes of an investigation pursuant to Sections 1106(a)(3) and (4) of the Bankruptcy Code) is appointed or elected in the Chapter 11 Cases, or the Debtors

apply for, consent to, support, acquiesce in or fail to promptly oppose, any such appointment, or the Bankruptcy Court shall have entered an order providing for such appointment, in the case of each of clauses (i) and (ii), without the prior written consent of the DIP Lender in its sole discretion;

- (g) <u>Challenges</u>. The Debtors take any action to, or fail to take all reasonable actions necessary to oppose any action by any other Person (including but not limited to: (a) challenging the standing of such party to bring any such action, (b) filing pleadings, providing evidentiary support, and appearing in court to support and present the same in opposition of such party's action, and (c) timely prosecuting all available appeals of any order or decision authorizing such party's actions or approving relief granted to such party or timely opposing all appeals of (or attempts to appeal) any decision denying standing or relief to such party) to (i) impair any of the material rights and remedies of the DIP Lender under the DIP Loan Documents, (ii) avoid, subordinate, disallow, or require disgorgement by the DIP Lender of any amount received in respect of the DIP Obligations, or (iii) challenge the rights, liens or claims of the Pre-Petition Secured Parties;
- (h) <u>DIP Loan Documents Impaired</u>. At any time after the execution and delivery thereof, (i) this Agreement or any DIP Loan Document ceases to be in full force and effect (other than by reason of a release of DIP Collateral in accordance with the terms hereof or thereof or the satisfaction in full of the DIP Obligations in accordance with the terms hereof) or shall be declared null and void, or the DIP Lender shall not have or shall cease to have a valid and perfected first priority Lien in any portion of the DIP Collateral purported to be covered by the DIP Collateral Documents subject only to liens permitted under the Financing Orders or (ii) the Debtors shall contest the validity or enforceability of any DIP Loan Document in writing or deny in writing that it has any further liability under any DIP Loan Document to which it is a party;
- (i) <u>Liens</u>. At any time after the execution and delivery thereof, the Liens created by the DIP Collateral Documents shall not constitute a valid and perfected first priority Lien on the DIP Collateral intended to be covered thereby (to the extent perfection by filing, registration, recordation or possession is required herein or therein) in favor of the DIP Lender, free and clear of all other Liens (other than Permitted Liens), or, except for expiration in accordance with its terms, any of the DIP Collateral Documents shall for whatever reason be terminated or cease to be in full force and effect, or the enforceability thereof shall be contested by the Debtors;
- (j) <u>Condemnation or Forfeiture of DIP Collateral</u>. Any judicial process, condemnation or forfeiture proceedings is brought against any material item or material portion of the DIP Collateral or any rights therein shall be subject to such judicial process, condemnation or forfeiture proceedings, in each case which is not stayed in the Chapter 11 Cases by the Bankruptcy Code;
- (k) <u>Pre-Petition Payments</u>. The Debtors make any material Pre-Petition Payment which is not permitted under the Budget;

- (l) <u>Government Restraint</u>. Any Governmental Body, by a final, non-appealable order, ruling or other action, shall prevent the Debtors from conducting any material part of the Debtors' business, to the extent such prevention could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
- (m) <u>Operating Licenses</u>. The loss, revocation, or termination of any license, permit, lease or agreement necessary or material to the Debtors' business, or the cessation of any material part of the Debtors' business, to the extent such loss, revocation, or termination could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect taken as a whole;
- (n) <u>Relief from Automatic Stay.</u> The Bankruptcy Court shall enter an order granting relief from the automatic stay to any creditor or party in interest (i) to permit foreclosure (or the granting of a deed in lieu of foreclosure or the like) on any material assets of the Debtors, or (ii) to permit other actions that the DIP Lender may, in its reasonable discretion, deem to have a Material Adverse Effect;
- (o) <u>Financing Orders</u>. The Final Order is not entered by August 15, 2024, or the Debtors shall fail to comply with, the or there is otherwise any material breach or default of, the Financing Orders or any other order of the Bankruptcy Court or any order shall be entered reversing, amending, supplementing, staying, vacating or otherwise modifying in any material respect the Financing Orders without the prior written consent of the DIP Lender;
- (p) <u>Judgments</u>. Any uninsured judgments as to any Post-Petition obligation shall be rendered against the Debtors and the enforcement thereof shall not be stayed (by operation of law, the rules or orders of a court with jurisdiction over the matter or by consent of the party litigants), or there shall be rendered against the Debtors a nonmonetary judgment with respect to a Post-Petition event, in each case which causes or would reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Effect; or
- (q) <u>Material Impairment</u>. The filing of a motion, pleading or proceeding by the Debtors which could reasonably be expected to result in a material impairment of the rights or interests of the DIP Lender under the DIP Loan Documents or the Financing Orders or a determination by a court with respect to a motion, pleading or proceeding brought by another party which results in such a material impairment.
- Section 8.2 Remedies. Subject to the Financing Orders, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default then: (i), the DIP Lender may, by written notice to the Debtors, take any or all of the following actions, at the same or different times, in each case without further order of or application to the Bankruptcy Court (subject to the proviso set forth in the last sentence of this paragraph): (a) declare the DIP Loan Commitment terminated, whereupon the DIP Loan Commitments of the DIP Lender shall forthwith terminate immediately; (b) declare and otherwise accelerate the principal of and any accrued interest in respect of all DIP Loans and any promissory notes evidencing such DIP Loans and all other DIP Obligations owing with respect thereto hereunder and thereunder to be, whereupon the same shall become, forthwith immediately due and payable without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Debtors; and (c) enforce all of the DIP Liens and security interests created pursuant to the DIP Collateral Documents securing DIP Obligations owing to the DIP Lender in accordance

with applicable Regulations and (ii) in addition to the foregoing, upon the occurrence of an Event of Default, the DIP Lender may, (x) exercise any right of counterclaim, setoff, banker's lien or otherwise which it may have with respect to money or property of the Debtors, (y) bring any lawsuit, action or other proceeding permitted by law for the specific performance of, or injunction against any violation of, any DIP Loan Document and may exercise any power granted under or to recover judgment under any DIP Loan Document, and (iii) exercise any other right or remedy permitted by applicable Regulations or otherwise available to the DIP Lender at law, in equity or otherwise. With respect to the enforcement of DIP Liens or other remedies with respect to the DIP Collateral under the preceding clause (iii), the DIP Lender shall provide the Debtors with five (5) Business Days' written notice prior to taking the action contemplated thereby; provided that, in any hearing after the giving of the aforementioned notice, the only issue that may be raised by any party in opposition thereto shall be being whether, in fact, an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, and the Debtors shall not be entitled to seek relief to the extent that such relief would in any way impair or restrict the rights and remedies of the DIP Lender as set forth herein and in the Financing Orders; and provided further that the DIP Lender shall be under no obligation to fund any DIP Loans during the pendency of such five Business Day period.

- Section 8.3 <u>Remedies Cumulative</u>. No remedy herein conferred upon the DIP Lender is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy and each and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute or any other provision of law.
- Section 8.4 <u>Application of Proceeds</u>. The DIP Lender shall apply any proceeds from pursuit of any remedy first to costs, fees and expenses provided for herein, then to interest on the DIP Loans which is due and outstanding and then to principal on the DIP Loans which is due and outstanding.

# ARTICLE IX MISCELLANEOUS

### Section 9.1 Amendments and Waivers; Release of DIP Collateral.

- (a) <u>General Amendments and Waivers</u>. No amendment, modification, termination (other than pursuant to the express terms of the DIP Loan Documents) or waiver of any provision of the DIP Loan Documents, or consent to any departure by the Debtors therefrom, shall be effective without the written consent of the DIP Lender and the Debtors.
- (b) <u>Effect of Notices, Waivers or Consents</u>. Any waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific purpose for which it was given. No notice to or demand on Debtors in any case shall entitle the Debtors to any other or further notice (except as otherwise specifically required hereunder or under any of the DIP Loan Documents) or demand in similar or other circumstances. Any amendment, modification, termination, waiver or consent effected in accordance with this Section 9.1 shall be binding upon the DIP Lender and the Debtors, if signed by the Debtors and DIP Lender.
- Section 9.2 <u>Notices</u>. All notices, requests, demands and other communications to any party or given under any DIP Loan Document (collectively, the "Notices") will be in writing and

delivered personally, by overnight courier or by registered mail to the parties at the following address or sent by electronic transmission (with confirmation of transmission), to the address specified below (or at such other address as will be specified by a party by like notice given at least five calendar days prior thereto):

#### (a) If to the Debtors, at:

c/o Christian Horizons
Attn: Kate Bertram
Kenna Hudson
2 Cityplace Drive, Suite 200
Saint Louis, MO 63141-7390
Email: kbertram@chliving.org
khudson@chliving.org

with a copy sent contemporaneously by email to (which shall not constitute notice):

DENTONS US LLP Attn: Robert E. Richards 233 South Wacker Drive, Suite 5900 Chicago, IL 60606 Email: robert.richards@dentons.com

### (a) If to the DIP Lender, at:

UMB BANK, N.A.
Corporate Trust Services
Attn: Julie J. Becker
120 Sixth Street South, Suite 1400
Minneapolis, MN 55402
Email: julie.becker@umb.com

with a copy sent contemporaneously by email to (which shall not constitute notice):

MINTZ, LEVIN, COHN, FERRIS, GLOVSKY AND POPEO, P.C.

Attn: Daniel S. Bleck Aaron M. Williams One Financial Center Boston, MA 02111

Email: DSBleck@mintz.com AWilliams@mintz.com All Notices will be deemed delivered when actually received. Each of the parties will hereafter notify the other in accordance with this Section of any change of address or email address to which notice is required to be mailed.

- Section 9.3 <u>Expenses</u>. Whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby shall be consummated or any DIP Loans shall be made, the Debtors agree to pay promptly, subject to the Financing Orders (but no later than the Maturity Date), upon written demand from the DIP Lender (together with summary backup documentation supporting such reimbursement request) and without the requirement for Bankruptcy Court approval in the event the transactions contemplated hereby are consummated:
  - (i) all the reasonable, out-of-pocket costs and expenses of preparation of the DIP Loan Documents and any consents, amendments, waivers or other modifications thereto; the reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C., as counsel to the DIP Lender, in connection with the negotiation, preparation, execution and administration of the DIP Loan Documents and any consents, amendments, supplements, waivers or other modifications thereto;
  - (ii) all the reasonable, out of pocket costs and expenses of creating and perfecting Liens in favor of the DIP Lender pursuant hereto, including, without limitation, filing and recording fees, expenses, stamp or documentary taxes, search fees, title insurance premiums and reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C., as counsel to the DIP Lender, and any other counsel of the DIP Lender in any other jurisdiction;
  - (iii) upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default or as otherwise incurred in connection with visits and inspections permitted by Section 5.1(b) (the expenses for which are required to be paid by the Debtors pursuant to such Section), all the actual costs and reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of any auditors, accountants, consultants or appraisers incurred in connection with the preservation and protection of the DIP Lender's rights under this Agreement and the other DIP Loan Documents;
  - (iv) all the actual costs and reasonable expenses, including, without limitation, upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default or as otherwise incurred in connection with visits and inspections permitted by Section 5.1(b), the expenses for which are required to be paid by the Debtors pursuant to such Section, the reasonable fees, expenses and disbursements of any appraisers, consultants, advisors and agents employed or retained by the DIP Lender and its counsel in connection with the inspection, verification, custody or preservation of any of the DIP Collateral, to the extent required or permitted hereunder;
  - (v) after the occurrence and during the continuance of a Default or an Event of Default, all out-of-pocket costs and expenses, including, without

limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and out-of-pocket costs, incurred by the DIP Lender in enforcing any DIP Obligations of or in collecting any payments due from the Debtors hereunder or under the other DIP Loan Documents by reason of such Default or Event of Default (including in connection with the sale of, collection from, or other realization upon any of the DIP Collateral) or in connection with any negotiations, reviews, refinancing or restructuring of the credit arrangements provided hereunder, including without limitation in the nature of a "workout" or pursuant to any insolvency or bankruptcy cases or proceedings; and

(vi) the foregoing shall not be construed to limit any other provisions of the DIP Loan Documents regarding costs and expenses to be paid by the Debtors.

For the avoidance of doubt. such amounts may be borrowed hereunder provided there is availability under the DIP Loan Commitment at the relevant time.

### Section 9.4 Enforceability; Successors and Assigns.

- (a) <u>Enforceability; Successors and Assigns</u>. This Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of and is enforceable by the respective successors and permitted assigns of the parties hereto. This Agreement may not be assigned by the Debtors hereto without the prior written consent of the DIP Lender. Any assignment or attempted assignment in contravention of this Section 9.4(a) will be void *ab initio* and will not relieve the assigning party of any obligation under this Agreement.
- (b) <u>Assignments</u>. The DIP Lender may assign (an "<u>Assignment</u>") all or a portion of its rights and obligations under the DIP Loan Documents (including all or a portion of the DIP Lender's DIP Loans and DIP Loan Commitment, as the case may be, in a minimum amount of \$250,000) to any Assignee. Such Assignment may be made without the consent of the Debtors. From and after the date of the Assignment, the Assignee shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned pursuant to the Assignment, have the rights and obligations of the DIP Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning DIP Lender shall, to the extent of the interest assigned, be released from its obligations under this Agreement. No Assignment by the DIP Lender shall release the DIP Lender from its obligations hereunder arising prior to the date of such assignment. The Debtors hereby consent to the disclosure of any information obtained by DIP Lender in connection with this Agreement to any Person to which DIP Lender sells, or proposes to sell, its DIP Loans or DIP Loan Commitment; provided any such Person shall agree to keep any such information confidential in a manner and on terms substantially consistent with the Trustee's confidentiality obligations.
- Section 9.5 <u>Integration</u>. This Agreement and the other DIP Loan Documents contain and constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede all prior negotiations, agreements and understandings, whether written or oral, of the parties hereto.

Section 9.6 No Waiver; Remedies. No failure or delay by any party in exercising any right, power or privilege under this Agreement or any of the other DIP Loan Documents will operate as a waiver of such right, power or privilege. A single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege will not preclude any other or further exercise of the right, power or privilege or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. The rights and remedies provided in the DIP Loan Documents will be cumulative and not exclusive of any rights or remedies provided by law.

Section 9.7 Setoff. The Debtors hereby, subject to the Financing Orders and the Carve-Out, grant to the DIP Lender a continuing lien, security interest and right of setoff as security for all liabilities and obligations to the DIP Lender, whether now existing or hereafter arising, upon and against all deposits, credits, collateral and property, now or hereafter in the possession, custody, safekeeping or control of the DIP Lender or any Affiliate and their successors and assigns or in transit to any of them. Regardless of the adequacy of any collateral, if any of the DIP Obligations are due and payable and have not been paid or any Event of Default shall have occurred, any deposits or other sums credited by or due from the DIP Lender to the Debtors and any securities or other property of the Debtors in the possession of the DIP Lender may be applied to or set off by the DIP Lender against the payment of DIP Obligations and any and all other liabilities, direct, or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising, of the Debtors to the DIP Lender. ANY AND ALL RIGHTS TO REQUIRE THE DIP LENDER TO EXERCISE ITS RIGHTS OR REMEDIES WITH RESPECT TO ANY OTHER DIP COLLATERAL WHICH SECURES THE DIP OBLIGATIONS, PRIOR TO EXERCISING ITS RIGHT OF SETOFF WITH RESPECT TO SUCH DEPOSITS, CREDITS OR OTHER PROPERTY OF THE DEBTORS ARE HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND IRREVOCABLY WAIVED.

Section 9.8 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties on separate counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute but one and the same Agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement by electronic transmission shall be equally as effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Agreement.

### Section 9.9 Governing Law; Submission To Jurisdiction; Venue.

(a) SUBJECT TO THE JURISDICTION OF THE BANKRUPTCY COURT, THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER DIP LOAN DOCUMENTS AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES HEREUNDER AND THEREUNDER SHALL, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED IN CERTAIN OF THE OTHER DIP LOAN DOCUMENTS, BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND BE GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (WITHOUT REGARD TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS RULES AND PRINCIPLES THEREUNDER) AND, TO THE EXTENT APPLICABLE, THE BANKRUPTCY CODE. ANY LEGAL ACTION OR PROCEEDING WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER DIP LOAN DOCUMENT SHALL BE BROUGHT IN THE BANKRUPTCY COURT, OR IN THE EVENT THAT THE BANKRUPTCY COURT DOES NOT HAVE OR DOES NOT EXERCISE JURISDICTION, THEN IN ANY STATE OR FEDERAL COURT OF COMPETENT

JURISDICTION IN THE STATE OF MISSOURI, AND, BY EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER DIP LOAN DOCUMENT, THE DEBTORS HEREBY IRREVOCABLY ACCEPT FOR THEMSELVES AND IN RESPECT OF THEIR PROPERTY, GENERALLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY, THE JURISDICTION OF THE AFORESAID COURTS. THE DEBTORS HEREBY FURTHER IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ANY CLAIM THAT ANY SUCH COURTS LACKS PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER THE DEBTORS, AND AGREE NOT TO PLEAD OR CLAIM, IN ANY LEGAL ACTION PROCEEDING WITH RESPECT TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER DIP LOAN DOCUMENT BROUGHT IN THE AFOREMENTIONED COURTS, THAT SUCH COURTS LACK PERSONAL JURISDICTION OVER THE DEBTORS. THE DEBTORS FURTHER IRREVOCABLY CONSENT TO THE SERVICE OF PROCESS OUT OF THE AFOREMENTIONED COURTS IN ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING BY THE MAILING OF COPIES THEREOF BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL, POSTAGE PREPAID, TO THE DEBTORS AT THE ADDRESS SET FORTH IN SECTION 9.2 HEREOF, SUCH SERVICE, NOTWITHSTANDING THE PERIODS OF TIME PROVIDED FOR IN SECTION 9.2, TO BECOME EFFECTIVE 30 DAYS AFTER SUCH MAILING. THE DEBTORS HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ANY OBJECTION TO SUCH SERVICE OF PROCESS AND FURTHER IRREVOCABLY WAIVE AND AGREE NOT TO PLEAD OR CLAIM IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING COMMENCED HEREUNDER OR UNDER ANY OTHER DIP LOAN DOCUMENT THAT SERVICE OF PROCESS WAS IN ANY WAY INVALID OR INEFFECTIVE. NOTHING HEREIN SHALL AFFECT THE RIGHT OF THE DIP LENDER TO SERVE PROCESS IN ANY OTHER MANNER PERMITTED BY LAW OR TO COMMENCE LEGAL PROCEEDINGS OR OTHERWISE PROCEED AGAINST THE DEBTORS IN ANY OTHER JURISDICTION.

(b) THE DEBTORS HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVE ANY OBJECTION WHICH THEY MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY OF THE AFORESAID ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER DIP LOAN DOCUMENT BROUGHT IN THE COURTS REFERRED TO IN CLAUSE (a) ABOVE AND HEREBY FURTHER IRREVOCABLY WAIVE AND AGREE NOT TO PLEAD OR CLAIM IN ANY SUCH COURT THAT ANY SUCH ACTION OR PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURTS HAVE BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM.

Section 9.10 Waiver of Jury Trial. THE PARTIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT THAT THEY MAY HAVE TO TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION, OR IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTIES WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS

# AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

Section 9.11 Severability. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced by any rule of law, or public policy, all other conditions and provisions of this Agreement will nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the transactions contemplated hereby is not affected in any manner adverse to any party. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or incapable of being enforced, the parties hereto will negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner to the end that the transactions contemplated hereby are fulfilled to the extent possible.

Section 9.12 <u>Survival</u>. All representations, warranties, covenants, agreements, and conditions contained in or made pursuant to this Agreement or the other DIP Loan Documents shall survive (a) the making of the DIP Loans and the payment of the DIP Obligations and (b) the performance, observance and compliance with the covenants, terms and conditions, express or implied, of all DIP Loan Documents, until the due and punctual (i) indefeasible payment of the DIP Obligations and (ii) performance, observance and compliance with the covenants, terms and conditions, express or implied, of this Agreement and all of the other DIP Loan Documents; provided, however, that the provisions of Article VII, Section 9.3 of this Agreement (other than Section 9.3(a)(iii) and Section 9.21, except to the extent fees, costs and expenses have been incurred prior to termination hereof but not paid in accordance with such Sections, in which case such Sections shall survive only to require payment of such fees, costs and expenses) shall survive (x) indefeasible payment of the DIP Obligations and (y) performance, observance and compliance with the covenants, terms and conditions, express or implied, of this Agreement and all of the other DIP Loan Documents.

Section 9.13 Maximum Lawful Interest. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in no event shall the amount of interest and other charges for the use of money payable under this Agreement or any other DIP Loan Document exceed the maximum amounts permissible under any law that a court of competent jurisdiction shall, in a final determination, deem applicable. The Debtors and the DIP Lender, in executing and delivering this Agreement, intend legally to agree upon the rate or rates of interest and other charges for the use of money and manner of payment stated within it; provided, however, that, anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, if the amount of such interest and other charges for the use of money or manner of payment exceeds the maximum amount allowable under applicable law, then, ipso facto as of the Closing Date, the Debtors are and shall be liable only for the payment of such maximum as allowed by law, and payment received from the Debtors in excess of such legal maximum, whenever received, shall be applied to reduce the principal balance of the Loans to the extent of such excess.

Section 9.14 <u>No Marshalling</u>. The DIP Lender shall not be required to marshal any present or future DIP Collateral and the Debtors hereby agree that they will not invoke any law relating to the marshalling of collateral and irrevocably waive the benefits of any such laws.

- Section 9.15 <u>Interpretation</u>. As used in this Agreement, references to the singular will include the plural and vice versa and references to the masculine gender will include the feminine and neuter genders and vice versa, as appropriate. Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement (a) the words "hereof," "herein" and "hereunder" and words of similar import when used in this Agreement will refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement and (b) article, section, subsection, and schedule references are references with respect to this Agreement unless otherwise specified. Unless the context otherwise requires, the term "including" will mean "including, without limitation." The headings in this Agreement and in the Schedules are included for convenience of reference only and will not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
- Section 9.16 <u>Ambiguities</u>. This Agreement and the other DIP Loan Documents were negotiated between legal counsel for the parties and any ambiguity in this Agreement or the other DIP Loan Documents shall not be construed against the party who drafted this Agreement or such other DIP Loan Documents.
- Section 9.17 <u>The PATRIOT Act</u>. The DIP Lender hereby notifies the Debtors, that pursuant to the requirements of the PATRIOT Act, it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Debtors and other information that will allow the DIP Lender to identify the Debtors in accordance with the PATRIOT Act.
- Section 9.18 <u>Conflicting Provisions in Security Documents</u>. In the event that any provisions of this Agreement conflict with any DIP Collateral Document, the provisions of this Agreement shall govern.
- Section 9.19 <u>Conflicting Provisions in the Financing Orders</u>. In the event that any provisions of this Agreement conflict with any provisions in the Financing Orders, the provisions of the Financing Orders shall control.
- Section 9.20 Modifications. Except as specifically contemplated in the Financing Orders, the DIP Liens, lien priority, administrative priorities and other rights and remedies granted to the DIP Lender pursuant to this Agreement and the Financing Orders (specifically, including, but not limited to, the existence, perfection and priority of the DIP Liens provided herein and therein and the administrative priority herein and therein) shall not be modified, altered or impaired in any manner by any other financing or extension of credit or incurrence of Indebtedness by the Debtors (pursuant to section 364 of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise), or by any dismissal or conversion of the Chapter 11 Case, or by any other act or omission whatsoever (other than in connection with any asset disposition permitted hereunder). Without limitation, notwithstanding any such order, financing, extension, incurrence, dismissal, conversion, act or omission: (i) except for the Carve-Out having priority over the DIP Obligations, no costs or expenses of administration which have been or may be incurred in the Chapter 11 Case or any conversion of the same or in any other proceedings related thereto, and no priority claims, are or will be prior to or on a parity with any claim of the DIP Lender against the Debtors in respect of any DIP Obligation; (ii) the Liens granted under the DIP Loan Documents shall continue to be valid and perfected and with the specified priority without the necessity that financing statements be filed or that any other action be taken, or document or instrument registered or delivered, under applicable non-bankruptcy law; and (iii)

notwithstanding any failure on the part of the Debtors or the DIP Lender to perfect, maintain, protect or enforce the Liens in the DIP Collateral granted under the DIP Loan Documents, the Financing Orders shall automatically, and without further action by any Person, perfect such Liens against the DIP Collateral of the Debtors.

Section 9.21 Release. EACH DEBTOR HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT AS OF THE DATE HEREOF IT HAS NO DEFENSE, COUNTERCLAIM, OFFSET, CROSS-COMPLAINT, CLAIM OR DEMAND OF ANY KIND OR NATURE WHATSOEVER THAT CAN BE ASSERTED TO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE ALL OR ANY PART OF ITS LIABILITY TO REPAY THE DIP OBLIGATIONS (OR THE PRE-PETITION OBLIGATIONS OWED TO THE PRE-PETITION SECURED PARTIES) OR TO SEEK AFFIRMATIVE RELIEF OR DAMAGES OF ANY KIND OR NATURE FROM THE DIP LENDER (IN ITS CAPACITY AS DIP LENDER HEREUNDER AND IN ITS CAPACITY AS A PRE-PETITION SECURED PARTY) OR OTHER PRE-PETITION SECURED PARTIES. THE DEBTOR HEREBY VOLUNTARILY AND KNOWINGLY RELEASES AND FOREVER DISCHARGES THE DIP LENDER (IN ITS CAPACITY AS DIP LENDER HEREUNDER AND IN ITS CAPACITY AS A PRE-PETITION SECURED PARTY). THE OTHER PRE-PETITION SECURED PARTIES, THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES, AND EACH OF THEIR RESPECTIVE AGENTS, EMPLOYEES, SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS (COLLECTIVELY, THE "RELEASED PARTIES") FROM ALL POSSIBLE CLAIMS, DEMANDS, ACTIONS, CAUSES OF ACTION, DAMAGES, COSTS, EXPENSES, OBLIGATIONS, DEBTS AND LIABILITIES WHATSOEVER, WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, ANTICIPATED OR UNANTICIPATED, SUSPECTED OR UNSUSPECTED, FIXED, CONTINGENT OR CONDITIONAL, OR AT LAW OR IN EQUITY, IN ANY CASE ORIGINATING IN WHOLE OR IN PART ON OR BEFORE THE DATE THIS AGREEMENT IS EXECUTED THAT SUCH DEBTOR MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE AGAINST THE RELEASED PARTIES, IF ANY, IRRESPECTIVE OF WHETHER ANY SUCH CLAIMS ARISE OUT OF CONTRACT, TORT, VIOLATION OF LAW OR REGULATIONS, OR OTHERWISE, AND THAT ARISE FROM ANY DIP LOANS OR PRE-PETITION INDEBTEDNESS, THE EXERCISE OF ANY RIGHTS AND REMEDIES UNDER THE DIP LOAN DOCUMENTS OR THE PRE-PETITION CREDIT AGREEMENTS AND THEIR RELATED DOCUMENTS, AND/OR NEGOTIATION FOR AND EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY CONTRACTING FOR, CHARGING, TAKING, RESERVING, COLLECTING OR RECEIVING INTEREST IN EXCESS OF THE HIGHEST LAWFUL RATE APPLICABLE. NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY SET FORTH HEREIN, THE FOREGOING RELEASE SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE RIGHTS OF THE COMMITTEE OR ANY OTHER PARTY IN INTEREST UNDER THE FINANCING ORDERS.

Section 9.22 <u>Electronic Transactions</u>. The transaction described herein may be conducted, and related documents may be stored, by electronic means. Copies, telecopies, facsimiles, electronic files and other reproductions of original executed documents will be deemed to be authentic and valid counterparts of such original documents for all purposes, including the filing of any claim, action or suit in the appropriate court of law.

In witness whereof, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered by their respective representatives thereunto duly authorized as of the date first written above.

### **DEBTORS**:

MIDWEST CHRISTIAN VILLAGES, INC., an Illinois not-for-profit corporation		HICKORY POINT CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, INC., an Illinois not-for-profit corporation		
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	
LEWIS MEMORIAL CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, an Illinois not-for-profit corporation		SENIOR CARE PHARMACY SERVICES, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company		
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	
NEW HORIZONS PACE MO, LLC, a Missouri limited liability company		RISEN SON CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, an Iowa nonprofit corporation		
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	

	NG RIVER CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, , a Missouri not-for-profit corporation		ISTIAN HOMES, INC., an Illinois or-profit corporation
By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer
	WN POINT CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, an Indiana nonprofit corporation		SIER CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, INC., liana nonprofit corporation
By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer
CAR	NSON CHRISTIAN VILLAGE E CENTER, LLC, an Indiana limited ity company		CR BIRCH CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, an Illinois limited liability company
By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer
	HINGTON VILLAGE ESTATES, an Illinois limited liability company		ISTIAN HORIZONS LIVING LLC, a buri limited liability company
By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer

THERAPY AND MEDICAL CLINIC, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company		APARTMENTS, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company		
	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer  BASH ESTATES, LLC, an Illinois and liability company		Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer E HAVEN HOSPICE, LLC, an Illinois ed liability company	
By: _ k	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	
	RTLAND CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, an Illinois limited liability company		WEST SENIOR MINISTRIES, INC, inois not-for-profit corporation	
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	
NUR	WNEE CHRISTIAN SING CENTER, LLC, an Illinois ed liability company			
By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer			

DIP LENDER:	UMB BANK, N.A., as Bond Trustee and Master Trustee
	By: Name: Title:

Case 24-42473 Doc 43 Filed 07/17/24 Entered 07/17/24 13:03:53 Main Document Pg 56 of 64

## **SCHEDULE 2.1**

## **DIP LOAN COMMITMENTS**

DIP Loans	Commitment Amount
Initial DIP Loans	
DIP Loans (less Initial DIP Loans)	
DIP Loan Commitment (cumulative)	

# **EXHIBIT A**

**Budget** 

# **EXHIBIT B**

Form of Borrowing Certificate

### **Borrowing Certificate**

Reference is hereby made to that certain Priming Superpriority Debtor-In-Possession Credit Agreement (the "DIP Credit Agreement") dated as of July \_\_\_, 2024, by and among Midwest Christian Villages, Inc., Hickory Point Christian Village, Inc., Lewis Memorial Christian Village, Senior Care Pharmacy Services, LLC, New Horizons PACE MO, LLC, Risen Son Christian Village, Spring River Christian Village, Inc., Christian Homes, Inc., Crown Point Christian Village, Inc., Hoosier Christian Village, Inc., Johnson Christian Village Care Center, LLC, River Birch Christian Village, LLC, Washington Village Estates, LLC, Christian Horizons Living, LLC, Wabash Christian Therapy and Medical Clinic, LLC, Wabash Christian Village Apartments, LLC, Wabash Estates, LLC, Safe Haven Hospice, LLC, Heartland Christian Village, LLC, Midwest Senior Ministries, Inc. and Shawnee Christian Nursing Center, LLC (collectively, the "Debtors") and UMB Bank, N.A., in its capacity as Trustee (the "DIP Lender"). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings given to them in the DIP Credit Agreement. The undersigned, in his/her capacity as an Authorized Officer of each of the Debtors, and not individually, hereby certifies as follows as of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2024 (the "Borrowing Date"):

- 1. <u>DIP Loans</u>. Pursuant to the terms of the DIP Credit Agreement, the Debtors are authorized to borrow DIP Loans in an amount equal to the DIP Loan Commitment during the DIP Commitment Period, solely in compliance with the DIP Credit Agreement. The Debtors hereby request an advance of DIP Loans in the aggregate amount of \$\_\_\_\_\_\_ (the "Borrowing") to be transferred to the Debtors within five (5) Business Days of the Borrowing Date.
- 2. Representations and Warranties. On and as of the Borrowing Date (both before and after giving effect to the Borrowing requested hereby and application of such proceeds), the representations and warranties of the Debtors contained in the DIP Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects (except to the extent such representations and warranties specifically relate to an earlier date, such representations and warranties are true and correct on and as of such earlier date).
- 3. <u>No Default or Event of Default</u>. As of the Borrowing Date, no event has occurred or is continuing or would result from the consummation of the Borrowing requested hereby, or the application of such proceeds, that would constitute a Default or an Event of Default.
- 4. <u>Available Commitments</u>. After making the DIP Loans requested by this Borrowing, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the DIP Loans will not exceed the DIP Loan Commitment.
- 5. <u>Use of Proceeds</u>. The proceeds of the DIP Loans advanced under this Borrowing will be used by the Debtors in accordance with the Budget and the DIP Credit Agreement.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank; signature page(s) to follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Borrowing Certificate as of the date first above written.

## **DEBTORS**:

MIDWEST CHRISTIAN VILLAGES, INC., an Illinois not-for-profit corporation		HICKORY POINT CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, INC., an Illinois not-for-profit corporation		
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	
LEWIS MEMORIAL CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, an Illinois not-for-profit corporation		SENIOR CARE PHARMACY SERVICES, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company		
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	
NEW HORIZONS PACE MO, LLC, a Missouri limited liability company		RISEN SON CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, an Iowa nonprofit corporation		
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	

	a Missouri not-for-profit corporation		ISTIAN HOMES, INC., an Illinois or-profit corporation
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer
	WN POINT CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, an Indiana nonprofit corporation		SIER CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, INC., liana nonprofit corporation
By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer
CAR	NSON CHRISTIAN VILLAGE E CENTER, LLC, an Indiana limited ty company		R BIRCH CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, an Illinois limited liability company
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer
	HINGTON VILLAGE ESTATES, an Illinois limited liability company		ISTIAN HORIZONS LIVING LLC, a buri limited liability company
Ву:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:	Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer

WABASH CHRISTIAN VILLAGE THERAPY AND MEDICAL CLINIC, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company	WABASH CHRISTIAN VILLAGE APARTMENTS, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company		
By:  Kate Bertram  President and Chief Executive Officer	By:  Kate Bertram  President and Chief Executive Officer		
WABASH ESTATES, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company	SAFE HAVEN HOSPICE, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company		
By: Kate Bertram President and Chief Executive Officer	By:  Kate Bertram  President and Chief Executive Officer		
HEARTLAND CHRISTIAN VILLAGE, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company	MIDWEST SENIOR MINISTRIES, INC, an Illinois not-for-profit corporation		
By:  Kate Bertram  President and Chief Executive Officer	By:  Kate Bertram  President and Chief Executive Officer		
SHAWNEE CHRISTIAN NURSING CENTER, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company			
By:  Kate Bertram  President and Chief Executive Officer			

# **EXHIBIT C**

**Form of Interim Order**